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A Tribute to a Dear Colleague and 
Friend, Barry Johns 

I write this with great sadness over the 
death of Barry Johns, a member of our 
board of Trustees, who passed away at 
his home on Sunday 21 May 2017, aged 
66. 

Barry was a warm hearted and generous 
man who had an immediate positive 
impact when he joined our Board in 2006. 
He genuinely believed in our work and 
was a highly engaged Trustee, always full 
of inspirational ideas and ready to provide 
advice and perspective on any issue. His 
unstinting support will be sorely missed by 
us all. 

As Chief Executive Officer of the West 
Midlands Ambulance Service, Barry was 
the pivotal figure behind 
developments in delivering emergency 
medical services to the West Midlands 
and far beyond. Through his vision and 
determination to „make a difference‟ in the 
survivability and improved clinical 
outcomes for seriously injured and ill 
patients he was the architect behind the 
launch of the first air ambulance in the 
Midlands in 1991.  

During his 11 years of dedicated 
service as a Trustee Barry‟s contributions 
to the Board was many and varied.  He 
understood the UK air ambulance 
service extremely well 

valuable and made particularly 
contributions to Board discussions. 

He also recognised that the biggest 
single deficiency in the air 
ambulance network was the lack of 
suitable helipads at hospitals that led to 
a step-change of our Objects in 2009 
when the Board elected to launch the 
HELP Appeal to ensure that air 
ambulances have somewhere safe and 
secure to land when they get to a hospital.  

Barry took great pride in our achievements 
in working closely with air 
ambulance operators and NHS hospital 
partners to ensure that the time taken 
to transfer patients in a time critical 
condition, between the helicopter and 
the hospital emergency department, 
should be as short as possible. 

Always involved and focused on the 
good of the charity Barry would be happy 
to give me his opinion whenever I needed 
advice. I always found his knowledge 
and experience invaluable.   

Barry passes on an extraordinary legacy – 
a word that is often misused - but not, 
I believe, in this instance. His 
immense courtesy and concern for others 
made the world a better place, both for 
those of us who were lucky enough to 
know him, and for countless others who 
have benefited from his work and are 
alive today through the availability and 
access to an air ambulance.   

The transformation that Barry achieved 
is remarkable and we have lost a 
wonderful ambassador for air ambulance 
services in this country.  We all remain 
committed to continue what he first set 
in motion.  He was a genuinely 
good man who I had the privilege 
of working with and who combined 
achievement with great personal 
grace. 

He was simply incomparable and will be 
greatly missed by many, but never will 
he be forgotten.  

Hugh Meynell, MBE  
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
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It‟s that time of the year again when I can reflect 
on the last 12 months with immense gratitude to 
supporters, staff and fellow trustees for all their 
help, work and commitment.  
 
I‟m proud to present you with this annual report on 
yet another challenging year for the charity sector 
but it has left us with some wonderful memories 
and much to celebrate.      
 
All of our work is underpinned by our values and 
some of our most laudable achievements and 
major stories from the year are set out in the Chief 
Executive‟s report on page 7 and the Strategic 
Review on page 17.  
  
A short history of the support and impact of 
our Charity 
 
For nearly twenty-five years of fundraising the 
County Air Ambulance Trust brand describes the 
business that we are engaged in.  It was 
established in the early nineties with a 
commitment to provide financial support to the 
West Midlands Ambulance Service to ensure the 
future of the first red air ambulance helicopter 
based at RAF Cosford in Shropshire.  
  
We have been engaging with the public and 
business sector throughout the lifetime of the 
charity, organising events, putting in place long-
term income streams and raising funds for this 
purpose. For practically all of our existence we 
have been recognised as a charity, and formally 
registered as one in 1996 to have the benefits that 
go with that status. 
 
Those benefits go hand in hand with an 
expectation from the general public of proper 
management and control, and recognition of the 
role of the Trustees as holding public funds on 
“trust” for the benefit of our beneficiaries.   
 
It is impossible to acknowledge our heritage 
without considering the financial support and 
impact we have had on the development of 
helicopter emergency medical services (HEMS) 
over those years through our Golden Hour 
appeal. 
 
Our generous and consistent grant funding to the  
Midlands Air Ambulance Charity of £7.6 million 
has provided them with greater resilience to 
protect their Air Ambulance Operations long into 
the future.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Air Ambulance Helicopters form an essential 
part of the UK‟s pre-hospital response to 
patients suffering life threatening injuries or 
illness and we are well aware that any one of us 
might need an air ambulance at any time. 
 
This is why our charity ha s  continued to provide    
funding to help them improve operational and 
clinical practices, both medical and flight related, 
together with the completion of a number of major 

projects including the redevelopment of two of 
their airbases. 
 

 
 
We also developed a positive relationship with the 
Great Western Air Ambulance Charity in 
providing them with major financial support of £3.8 
m to enable them to survive initially and to 
develop their own income streams and reach 
sustainability.   
 
Our generous financial support was very 
important in providing funds for the lease of the 
helicopter, its base at Filton Airfield, Critical Care 
Doctors and Paramedics together with specialist 
equipment in delivering trained advanced trauma 
care teams to the scene of an incident in the Avon 
and surrounding areas.      
 
We are fully aware that HEMS horizons are 
changing with greater potential risks as terrorist 
attacks and by the fact that ambulance services 
are stretched to the limit, with fewer resources   
and greater demand. The aviation horizon is also 
changing with upgraded and enlarged helicopters 
on the market. 
 
Our HELP Appeal defines the niche market of 
helipads as an integral part of the helicopter 
emergency medical services network with the 

A welcome from Hugh Meynell, MBE 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 

Hanna Sebright, Chief Executive of the 
Midlands Air Ambulance Charity said: “I 
would like to thank everyone at the County 
Air Ambulance Trust for the ongoing grant 
support, which has impacted a number of 
lives”. 
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HELP Appeal providing funding where and when 
it‟s needed. 
 
During the year we have continued to build on our 
close collaborations with the NHS, CAAi and Air 
Ambulance operators in looking at any 
developments that will enhance the base 
infrastructures that we finance. We have identified 
a number of hospitals where new helipads or 
upgrades to existing ones are needed over the 
next few years and where we have agreed to 
provide funding. 
 
Initiatives range from new helipad projects to the 
installation of the latest lighting systems and/or 
fire-fighting systems on existing helipads that can 
dramatically improve safety criteria and reduce 
the cost to the hospitals of having to provide fire-
trained personnel.    
 

 
 
In the past year our grant giving of £4 million (£3.6 
million in 2016) has brought our overall helipad 
spend to £16.7 million.  Our ambition has always 
been to provide funding for the most appropriate 
helipad at every Major Trauma Centre and key A 
& E Hospital in the country. 
   
We have continued our discussions with 
Midlands Air Ambulance Charity to provide 
additional funding to expand their secondary 
night-lit network of landing sites when ambient 
light is poor.  
 
This financial support allows them to reach more 
patients, especially in rural areas, in the hours of 
darkness.  Their three helicopters have been 
utilising these facilities to fly to more remote 
locations at night, enabling them to reach and 
treat those in urgent need of medical attention.  
 
Our aim is to provide greater choice of suitable 
landing sites for their aircraft, with further grants 
from the HELP Appeal to support these projects.  
 
This network of secondary landing sites would not 
have been possible without the financial support 
of the HELP Appeal.  

 
 
In an emergency, when time is of the essence, 
being able to land seconds away from specialist 
care, is crucial.  Our focussed and targeted 
marketing campaigns continue to raise awareness 
that a number of hospitals do not have the full 
facilities needed to accommodate helicopters at 
any time of the day or night.  

 
The HELP Appeal does not receive any help from 
Government or the National Lottery and relies 
solely on donations, legacies, lottery players and 
fundraising events.  
 
We do not see this as a burden but instead 
believe that it enables us to ensure that we put the 
needs of others at the top of our entire decision 
making.  
 
We remain the only charity in the country 
funding helipads nationally. 
 
Objectives for public benefit 
 
When the Charity was originally established, the 
promotion of life-saving helipads at Major Trauma 
Centres and key A & E Hospitals around the 
country was not recognised as one of our standard 
charitable objectives and so was not included in 
our Articles.  
 
We now provide non-repayable grants towards the  
cost of new or improvements to existing helipads 
at hospitals to give air ambulances the safest, 
quickest and most convenient place to land, rather 
than having to fly to locations further afield. 
 
In order to reflect the essential funding that we 
now provide to hospitals the Trustees sought to 
bring this into the current charitable object based 
on the guidance contained in the Charity 
Commission‟s general guidance on public benefit.   
 
The (“Objects”) have now been expanded to 
include our involvement in a variety of important 
helipad projects which reflect the role played by 
the HELP Appeal and what we do. 
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The new charitable objective of the Charity is: 
 
The Trust‟s objects (“the Objects”) are to relieve 
sickness in particular but not exclusively, by 
supporting helicopter emergency medical services 
and funding primary helicopter landing sites at 
major trauma centres and key accident and 
emergency hospitals to help end preventable loss 
of life caused by secondary transfers.  
 
The updated Articles have been filed with the 
respective regulators and at Companies House.   
 
In considering the current Articles our lawyers 
commented that in a number of areas these were 
not now in line with current guidance and require 
some redrafting.  It is of critical importance to the 
future success of the Charity that public trust in us 
is maintained and early next year we will establish 
a process to fully review the Articles.    
 
We are grateful that our legal advisors will provide 
more detailed guidance to ensure that the Charity 
structure will have a better flow and clarity in line 
with current guidance to meet good practice. 
   
Governance & Regulation – meeting the needs 
of today. 
 
We continue to live in a period of significant 
change which requires us to be vigilant in our 
delivery of our objectives.  
 
Regulatory scrutiny around conduct of charities 
remains in sharp focus and we continue to embed 
a supporter focused culture across the Charity 
through the delivery of our strategy. 
 
During the past two years the public expectation 
to ensure good guardianship and management of 
charitable funds has become heavier, and the 
legal and regulatory framework surrounding that 
expectation has become increasingly onerous.   
 
2017 has been a busy year for us with 
considerable regulatory change and I have no 
doubt that 2018 will be equally challenging. 
 
As we are seeing raised expectations and a 
tighter framework for charity governance with an 
increasing deluge of laws and regulations, one of 
the areas that came up for discussion at Board 
meetings was the need to  combine our culture 
with the legal requirements of a  Charity in the 21

st
 

Century. 
 
Our obligations to comply with best practice has 
increased exponentially, and a priority for the 
Board was to take a good look at our governance 

structure and assess whether it meets the needs 
of the regulatory bodies, and satisfies the current 
public expectation of charities, and to consider 
what needs to change. 
 
We believed that the starting point for this would 
be our legal advisers and their team of highly 
experienced charity lawyers who also had an 
understanding of our heritage.   
 
Trustee and Director Training 
 
It is imperative that we as Trustees are effective 
both individually and collectively to enable the 
Charity to fulfil its charitable objects. 
 
Throughout the year the trustees have received 
formal charity law updates, with strategic sessions 
and presentations to provide information on a 
range of factors in relation to governance 
including key sessions on: 

 Trustees‟ governance responsibility and 
liability in determining our charitable 
purpose.  

 

 Assessing our risks on finance and 
compliance. 

 

 Data Protection and Fundraising, knowing 
what we need to do. 

 

 What we need to do to meet the challenges 
that we face.   

 
Attending seminars and conferences has helped 
to enhance our knowledge and understanding of 
the risks the Charity might face, such as financial 
prudence, compliance with the law and to 
signpost us to resources that can help the Charity 
to run well and be fit for purpose.   
 
It has also enabled the Trustees to pay due 
regard to the regulatory guidance and things we 
can do to stay compliant and remain up to date to  
run the Charity with integrity for its long term 
success. 
 
We are now well equipped with the practical 
techniques and essential knowledge to develop 
robust and comprehensive compliance plans 
which are consistent with the requirements of 
legislation and standards.  
 
These plans are linked to our risk management 
policy and procedure register, and you can find 
out about some of our key risk measures in the 
Report of the Trustees on subsequent pages.       
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We are now at the stage where we are identifying 
a number of key areas to be discussed and 
considered by the Trustees at board meetings 
over the coming months.   
 
When considered these key areas appear to 
make good sense and the extent to which we take 
on board some or all of them will be on the 
recommendations from our legal advisers.   
 
Working efficiently 
 
Reporting to the Trustees are the Chief Executive 
and Senior Management Team who are 
responsible for the implementation of policy and 
for management of the day-to-day running of the 
Charity. 
 
Financial matters are further overseen on a daily 
basis by the Chief Executive and Charity 
Administrator, supported by a small group of 
senior staff members responsible for key 
organisational functions and a wider 
administration team.  
 
Income generation and fundraising is the 
responsibility of the Head of Fundraising and the 
Fundraising Team.  
 
In all respects this only relates to matters that are 
within the strategy and budgets that have been 
approved by the Board. 
 
In order to develop appropriate policies and 
strategies; and monitor performance the Trustees 
work, with the help of sub-committees, alongside 
the Chief Executive and Senior Management 
Team.   
 
We continue to remain disciplined in the 
management of both the Charity and our wholly 
owned trading subsidiary; exercising strict controls 
to help us improve the overall effectiveness of the 
board and ensuring that the Charity is well run 
and fit for purpose.  
 
Two of the Trustees are also directors of the 
Trading subsidiary; this relationship enables them 
to report on the company‟s activities and 
performance and communicate those matters to 
the Trustee Board.   
 
Profits arising in the subsidiary company are 
donated to the Charity and consolidated into our 
group accounts.  
 
Our approach to fundraising 
 
Our fundraising activities are planned to optimise  

income and build the Charity‟s brand.  It is 
important to note that we are a completely 
independent air ambulance charity responsible for 
our own fundraising activities. 
 
We strive to fundraise as efficiently and effectively 
as possible and have continued to focus our 
fundraising on sustainable income streams such 
as regular giving and our lottery to ensure that we 
uphold the strongest standards in how we work 
with donors and supporters.    
 
There has been an increasing spotlight on the 
importance of good governance in the charity 
sector in recent times due to a number of high 
profile cases in relation to charity fundraising.  
 
We shall never lose sight of the things that make 
the County Air Ambulance and HELP Appeal a 
great charity, the focus on our supporters, our 
beneficiaries and our staff that have an important 
role to play in today‟s changing fundraising world.  
 
Our work is mainly funded by a mixture of 
donations, income from our HELP Appeal weekly 
lottery, legacies, fundraising events, payroll giving 
donors, tin collections, support from the business 
sector, investment income and voluntary 
donations.  
 
In an increasingly challenging economic and 
regulatory context we are delighted with the 
progress made during the last twelve months with 
reported growth across almost all of these key 
income streams which has enhanced our financial 
stability.  
 
Fundraising is fundamental to the success of the 
Charity and we rely entirely on the goodwill of the 
public and businesses. As a result there is a need 
to promote donations in order to maintain the 
fundraising network we have built from scratch.  
 
To ensure that every pound is put to the best 
possible use we carefully consider which 
initiatives will deliver the best outcomes for our 
beneficiaries.   
 
We are careful and take steps to avoid the 
aggressive tactics reportedly employed elsewhere 
in the sector. We do not pressure supporters to 
make donations and respect decisions to stop 
giving.   
  
An extension of the Charity‟s governance was 
launched with the creation of a new role, 
Compliance Officer.  This is a part-time 
independent position to advise the Board on what 
potential actions need to be considered and follow 



- 5 -  

 
 

any recognised standards that apply to our 
fundraising activities to ensure compliance with 
the laws and regulations that apply specifically to 
them.    
 
Responding to the legislative changes and 
maintaining confidence in how we raise and use 
our funds, we committed to a rigorous review of 
our fundraising practices which confirmed that in 
all key aspects of our organisation the highest 
standards are being followed. 
 
We did however, during the year, take the 
decision to suspend elements of our fundraising 
marketing activity that have, for a number of years 
supported the growth in income, to consider 
changes to the way we fundraise.  
 
New regulations make it extremely difficult for us 
to manage the telephone fundraising activity in 
such a manner that it will not put the Charity in a 
vulnerable position. So too would the annual 
Christmas prize draw and a decision was taken to 
discontinue these fundraising activities even 
though we knew this would impact upon our 
fundraising income in the next few years. We 
believe that this approach to fundraising is no 
longer welcomed by supporters, and therefore 
was the right thing to do.   
 
We are currently trialling some new fundraising 
initiatives and if successful we expect to pick up 
the loss of income and remain confident that by 
transforming our relationship with supporters we 
can minimise the impact on our funding model.   
 
Of course, with the raising of funds becoming 
increasingly challenging and the possibility of a 
reduction in income in future years, we believe it 
is not only important to do the right thing for our 
beneficiaries but also for those who are kind 
enough to support us. 
 
These consequential changes are seen as 
essential elements of running a strong 
organisation and will ensure that we remain 
compliant and well managed in future.   
 
We aim to put our supporters at the heart of 
everything that we do.  As such we are committed 
to ensuring that our fundraising practices go 
above and beyond all regulations that we are 
required to adhere to.  
 
Grant making policy 
 
The Charity has established its grant making 
policy to achieve its objectives for public benefit  
to improve the lives of patients suffering life 

threatening injuries or illness that require fast 
access to specialist treatment to improve their 
chance of survivability and recovery. 
 
We are the only UK charity which offers financial 
support to both air ambulance operators and 
major hospitals. Our grant making programme 
aims to achieve our charitable objects that are 
underpinned by what we have termed financial 
support for: 
 

 Helicopter Emergency Medical Services 
(HEMS) and 

 

 primary helicopter landing sites at major 
trauma centres and key accident and 
emergency hospitals to help end 
preventable loss of life caused by 
secondary transfers.  

 
 

 
 
The year proved very successful in terms of 
the number and amount of grants awarded 
that places at the very heart of what we do 
best. 
 
Our support to beneficiaries continues to develop 
in terms of grant awards and strategic reach to 
complement and enhance the HEMS network.  
 
Our aims during the year were: 
 

 To provide effective, timely and impactful 
non-refundable grants for a HEMS charity 
partner or Major Trauma Centre or key A & 
E Hospital.   

 

 To identify and evaluate further major 
capital strategic projects within the HEMS 
network. 

 
All grant requests for support were assessed on a 
case-by-case basis to enable us to understand 
the wider needs behind each grant application.  
 
The Chief Executive and his team invite 
applications for grants and manage them to 
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ensure that they fulfil the relevant criteria and 
make recommendations for funding. They also 
ensure that grant recipients are reporting on the 
outcomes and impact of our generous funding so 
that the trustees can monitor the application and 
impact of grants to date.  
 
As we increased our support to the HEMS 
network the amount spent on projects has been 
wide and varied as illustrated in the Chief 
Executive‟s report on page 7 which shows some 
of the best examples of the part we have played.   
 
All grants awarded have agreed outcomes so that 
we are able to effectively measure the impact of 
our funding. 
 
We review the grant making policy annually to 
ensure that it reflects the Charity‟s objects and 
thereby advances public benefit. 
 
Future Plans in brief 
 
We have achieved a great deal in recent years 
and the main themes of our future plan will be 
building on the work of the past years and taking 
stock of the context in which we now operate.  
 

 
 
Despite the challenges faced this year our aim for 
the coming year remains unchanged as we retain 
a clear vision of how we see the future of the 
Charity in:  
 

 providing vital financial support to Air 
Ambulance operators in the delivery of 
helicopter ambulances to patients suffering 
life threatening injuries or illness; and 

 

 working directly with hospitals in offering 
non-refundable grants towards the cost of 
new or improvements to existing helipads 
that are an integral part of the pre-hospital 
care service  

 

Both of these initiatives is a major achievement on 
its own and this financial support helps to provide 
the best possible outcomes for patients in need of 
urgent medical treatment.  
 
We have much to do and are engaged with a 
number of NHS hospitals in developing some 
exciting projects over the next few years that will 
require continued major investment.  
 
Appreciation 
 
We are a well respected charity and I firmly 
believe that what makes us are our people.  We 
are proud of the high levels of employee 
engagement that we achieve as well as an 
engaged workforce with a strong customer service 
ethos. 
 
On behalf of the Charity as a whole, I thank 
everyone who has helped us in our work and look 
forward to building on this success next year. 
 
Our work and achievements are only made 
possible by the generosity, commitment, passion 
and enthusiasm of all those who support us.  I 
give our most sincere thanks to all who have 
given to us since our last report, with more to 
come in the future.   
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Hugh Bernard Meynell, MBE 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
 
8 February 2018 
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As I reflect on the year gone by, I remember the 
sad loss of Barry Johns who passed away in May 
2017 after a battle with cancer. He was a legend, 
always full of inspirational ideas, a true gentleman 
and his knowledge of the air and ambulance 
service and his unstinting support will be sorely 
missed by us all. 
 
Our helipad initiative to see helicopter landing 
facilities at all Major Trauma Centres and key A & 
E Hospitals was a passionate desire and key to 
the support which Barry gave to me and the whole 
team. Our Trustees and Staff all join together in 
acknowledging the work undertaken by Barry over 
the last decade.  
 
Everyone at the Charity was also very sad to learn 
of the death of Vice President and long time friend 
of the HELP Appeal, former cricketer Rachel 
Heyhoe Flint, OBE  
 
Financial overview in brief 
 
Since last year‟s annual report, I am pleased to 
say that the majority of the plans for the future 
have been realised and their themes continue to 
drive the developments of the Charity. 
 
From a financial point of view we continue to go 
from strength to strength and the year has proved 
to be yet another very successful one in line with 
budgeted expectations. We have achieved a 
comfortable surplus of income over expenditure 
with total group incoming resources topping £8m 
for the first time in our history. This has ensured 
that our finances are in excellent health. 
 
The surpluses generated during the year 
contributed primarily to the funding of the Charity‟s 
ambitious HELP Appeal development work with 
hospital partners to improve their helipad 
provision. 
 
Our aim, as always, is to draw upon the 
substantial goodwill and generosity of many 
people around the country whose donations have 
enabled the Charity to consolidate its financial 
position.  
 
You can see the results and finer detail in the 
Financial Statements on subsequent pages.    
 
 
 

 
Helping to save time - Helping to save lives. 
 
We are involved in a variety of important helipad 
projects, for a number of hospitals, throughout 
England and Scotland with many undergoing 
feasibility studies which we fund to ascertain the 
most appropriate solutions for their individual 
situations and needs.  
 
Development is sometimes restricted by land 
availability and other priorities but once 
construction work is underway and a helipad is 
able to receive flights it will help save lives by 
reducing the patient transfer time within that first 
critical Golden Hour of care.  
 
Enabling air ambulances to save just a few 
additional minutes in transferring a time critical 
patient can make all the difference to their survival 
and recovery.   
 

 
 
During the year a number of key helipads have 
been built or existing ones upgraded due to the 
support given via the HELP Appeal grant scheme. 
The results have attracted widespread praise of 
our Charity for creating such safe places for air 
ambulance helicopters to land. 
 
Saving vital minutes 
 
The construction of a helipad has to meet the 
latest UK design and operational standards for 
helicopter landing areas at hospitals.  
 
To meet these requirements an in-depth review of 
drawings, a feasibility study and comprehensive 
onsite inspections by the UK Civil Aviation 
Authority regulator on the helipad‟s physical 
characteristics (surface, tie-down points, safety 
net, and access points), environmental and 
operational factors, visual aids and fire fighting 
systems all have to be assessed. 
 

 
Here’s how we have supported hospitals with 
key helipad projects that make a difference 
 
 
 

Report from the Chief Executive 

Robert Bertram 
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King’s College Hospital, London 
 
The new helipad was finally opened in October 
2016 and will save many lives, helping the 
hospital serve its trauma population of 4.5 million 
people across south east London and Kent. 
 
Built on top of the hospital‟s 10-storey Ruskin 
Wing, the helipad has been made possible thanks 
to a multi-million donation from the HELP Appeal. 
About 310 patients a year are expected to be 
brought in via the helipad.  
 
The helipad made a huge impact by significantly 
decreasing the time it takes to transfer patients 
from the scene of an accident, by helicopter, to 
the Emergency department. Before the helipad 
opened, helicopters landed in a nearby Park and 
patients were transferred to the hospital by road 
ambulance, a process which would add a further 
25 minutes to the patient‟s journey, time they are 
now saving.  Since the helipad opened, 
turnaround time for air ambulance teams has also 
improved, allowing them to be available to 
respond to other critical incidents more quickly.   
 
The helipad is the first in mainland UK to be 
equipped with a Deck Integrated Fire Fighting 
System (DIFFS). This system, already used on 
the offshore helipads,  automatically sprays foam 
from a series of nozzles installed onto the helipad 
to help keep it and the building safe in the event of 
a fire, instead of relying on a team of fire fighters 
to manually extinguish it.  
 
We can proudly take credit for helping to drive this 
new initiative working with the CAAi and we 
entirely funded the new DIFFS at King‟s College.  
 
In case a fire is detected the system can be 
activated via push buttons on the main control 
panel or the local push buttons at access points. 
Thanks to this new technology, the response time 
should not be greater than 15 seconds after 
release and tests have shown that in most cases 
a fire can be extinguished in less than 10 
seconds.   
 
It‟s a proven technology that not only increases 
safety, but also reduces staffing costs. Using this 
system will save the Hospital £300,000 each year 
compared to employing fire fighters, to bring a 
blaze under control.    
 
The new helipad speeds up the time it takes air 
ambulances to transfer critically ill patients to 
King‟s, and reduces „landing-to-resus‟ times to just 
five minutes. It has helped them to continue their 

focus on delivering world class trauma care, and 
saving even more lives.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We have pledged £2.75 million to this hospital as  
 
 
We have pledged £2.75 million to this hospital as 
we are fully aware of the drastic difference this 
helipad will make.  

 
 

Every second counts and time is life. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Royal Bournemouth Hospital 
 
A complete rebuild of the existing helipad at the 
hospital was completely funded by a generous 
donation of £119,000 from the HELP Appeal.  
 
The ground level helipad is located immediately 
outside the Emergency department and will allow  
 

Rob Bentley, Clinical Director of the Major 
Trauma Network, added: “We are very grateful 
to the County Air Ambulance HELP Appeal, 
without their generous contribution, the helipad 
would not have been possible. When a patient 
has experienced major trauma it is vital they get 
specialist treatment as quickly as possible and 
our new helipad will help us continue our focus 
on delivering world-class trauma care, and 
saving lives”.  

Dr Malcolm Tunnicliff, Clinical Director for 

Emergency Medicine at King‟s College said: 

“We are incredibly pleased that our helipad at 

King‟s is operational.  We treat some of the 

most seriously ill and critically injured patients 

in the south east. The helipad will speed up the 

time it takes to transfer patients from the 

helicopter to hospital, giving them the very best 

chance of survival”. 
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larger aircraft to land than would have been able 
on the previous landing pad. 
 
This will help ensure patients coming into the 
hospital via helicopter receive the care they need 
as quickly as possible both day and night.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Liverpool Aintree University Hospital 
 
Work was started on the development of a 
£1million helipad at this major trauma centre to 
stop air ambulances having to land one mile away 
from the hospital. 
 
Providing a purpose-built helipad in front of their 
urgent care and trauma centre will save vital time 
for those most seriously injured patients arriving 
by air ambulance giving them immediate access 
to specialist treatment.  
 
The helipad became operational from Monday 3

rd
 

July 2017 and being able to minimise the transfer 
time for patients who are seriously injured will 
make a huge difference and help the hospital to 

save more lives. Until now air ambulances have 
had to land on playing fields, after which a road 
ambulance was sent to transfer patients adding 
up to 30 minutes to the journey but with the 
helipad it now takes just a few minutes. 
 
The ground level helipad is located outside the 
Emergency Department and ensures that the 
skilled crew of the North West Air Ambulance will 
no longer have to rely on a secondary transfer by 
land ambulance and can get patients to the centre 
more quickly which improves their chances of 
survival and reduces the risk of long-term injury. 
 
The helipad was fully funded by the HELP Appeal 
and the new facility will serve patients from across 
Merseyside and Cheshire who need urgent 
specialist care. 
 
It was an honour for me to meet the Duke of 
Cambridge at the official opening of the 
Critical Care Unit in September, and talk about 
the work of the HELP Appeal as he is familiar 
with our role in enabling quicker access to 
hospitals for patients arriving by air 
ambulance.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The helipad is an extremely beneficial addition 

to the emergency services network in the 
North West. 

 
Sheffield Northern General hospital‟s life-saving 
helipad has seen on average three landings a 
week since it was opened in June 2016. 
 
Fifty percent of the £2 million helipad was donated 
by the HELP Appeal with the final instalment of 
£350,000 being paid in December 2016. 
 
 
 
 

Richard Renaut, Chief Operating Officer at the 
hospital said: “We‟re delighted with the new 
helipad and grateful to the HELP Appeal for 
funding this facility.  It‟s going to make all the 
difference to patients coming into the hospital, 
ensuring they receive the care they need as 
quickly as possible”. 

Bill Sivewright, Chief Executive of the Dorset 
and Somerset Air Ambulance said: “Any 
modifications or improvements in the 
infrastructure to enable us to deliver patients 
to the right hospital, which best suits their 
needs, is a great thing.  We applaud everyone 
involved with this project.” 

Mrs Sharon Scott, Divisional Medical Director of 
Surgery said: “The new helipad is fantastic 
news for our patients. It will make a tremendous 
difference to them and it is all possible thanks 
to the generosity of the HELP Appeal”. 
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Leeds General Infirmary 
 
All planned work was completed during the year 
with the Help Appeal providing the funding for two 
trolleys, four two-way radios, installation of lighting 
and a new Fire Fighting System. 
 

 
 
Portree, Isle of Skye 
 
The emergency response helipad re-opened 
following an extensive refurbishment programme, 
to provide a base for two rapid response 
helicopters on the island to treat patients in urgent 
trauma cases.  
 
With financial assistance from the HELP Appeal 
the new helipad capability will save vital minutes 
when transferring trauma patients by air 
ambulance to hospital on the mainland and is an 
important additional resource for the Island.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Luton and Dunstable Hospital 
 
They need to build an on-site helipad at the 
hospital which will be linked to the Emergency 
Department to ensure that everyone who needs 
specialist care can access it as easily and quickly 
as possible. 
 
Each year, over 22,000 patients are admitted to 
the Emergency Department with life threatening 
injuries and require immediate and specialist 
medical care.  There are even more people who 
need specialist care but because they don‟t have 
a helipad, patients who need to be airlifted to 
hospital cannot go there. 
 
Helicopters offer a much more reliable way of 
transporting critically ill patients as they 
significantly reduce travel time compared to a land 
ambulance. 
 
The location for the new helipad has been chosen 
because it is the best place to transfer patients 
directly from the air ambulance to the Emergency 
Department.   
 
The cost of the new helipad is £5.4 million which 
includes all the design and enabling work, the lift 
access to the Emergency Department, adequate 
lighting so it can be used 24 hours a day, an 
automated fire system and the helipad itself.  
 
We have already made two instalment payments 
of £500,000 and a further £1 million has been 
pledged by the HELP Appeal bringing our total 
contribution towards the project to £2 million.    
 
Royal Sussex Hospital, Brighton 
 
Work has started on the construction of the 
helipad and the first instalment of £500,000 has 
been handed over. The Trustees further agreed to 
fund the installation of a Deck Integrated Fire 
Fighting System up to a cost of £650,000.  The 
helipad is due to open in 2018. 
 
Hull Royal Infirmary 
 
Work is about to start on the construction of the 
helipad with planned opening in early 2018.  We 
have given them the first instalment of £250,000 
from the HELP Appeal.  
 
Manchester University Hospital 
 
The second instalment payment of £250,000 has 
been paid by the HELP Appeal, from a £2.0 
million pledge to the hospital, for its latest project 

David Reynolds, Director of the Hospitals 
Charity said:  “The new helipad has made a 
huge difference to the way in which the 
hospital is able to receive and treat time critical 
patients.  It has undoubtedly saved lives and 
I‟d like to personally thank all of our supporters, 
without them this vital facility would not have 
been completed”. 

Andy Moir, Head of Air Ambulance said: “This 
new helipad will allow us to treat seriously 
injured patients more quickly in circumstances 
when every second counts, minimising the 
transfer time to hospital.  It will make a huge 
difference to patients and ultimately save 
more lives.” 
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to build a state-of-the-art dedicated helicopter 
landing pad at their central hospitals site.  
 
Travelling by air ambulance rather than by road 
can dramatically reduce the time it takes patients 
to reach major trauma or specialist treatment 
centres but the hospital does not currently have a 
landing pad. 
 
At present, the Hospital relies upon a secondary 
landing site in a park which means that patients 
initially transported by air ambulance must then be 
transferred the final mile of their journey by land 
ambulance.  This secondary transfer adds 
precious minutes to the overall transfer time with 
every minutes delay greatly increasing the risk to 
life. 
 
The creation of this brand new 24 hour access 
primary helicopter landing facility, the first in 
central Manchester, will allow the hospital to save 
many more lives and increase the chances of a 
full or improved level of recovery for seriously ill or 
injured patients. 
 
Located on the roof of a new multi-storey car park, 
the helipad will be connected to the hospital by a 
high level link bridge and roof top corridor.  
 
Our £2 million donation will help to ensure a 
stronger future for some of the most vulnerable 
patients who have suffered very serious injury, 
and those requiring the very best care as quickly 
as possible.  
 
Ipswich Hospital 
 
The existing helipad is located at the back of a 
school field and once an air ambulance lands 
there, it takes 15-20 minutes to transfer critically ill 
and seriously injured patients to the hospital via a 
road ambulance. 
 
The HELP Appeal has agreed to fund the entire 
cost of a ground level helipad that should be 
operational by January 2018. 
 

 
 

With a larger size and built-in lighting, air 
ambulance helicopters will have the ability to land 
at the hospital in the hours of darkness for the first 
time.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are three air ambulances operating five 
helicopters across the region which will be able to 
land on the new helipad. This means significantly 
more patients will now be able to land at Ipswich 
hospital and have access to expert treatment 
because of this new development. 
 
The helipad will also mean the hospital and air 
ambulance teams can transfer patients from the 
hospital for emergency treatment in other 
specialist centres quickly and smoothly.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Worcester Royal Hospital 
 

 
 
Work is set to get underway on a £1.24 million 
state-of-the-art raised helipad, which will be closer  
to the Accident and Emergency department, 
enabling faster transfer of critically ill patients into 
the department using electric trolleys instead of an 
ambulance.   

Nick Hulme, Chief Executive said: “The new 
helipad will be a big step forward in delivering 
first-class care to their critically ill patients. We 
are hugely grateful to the HELP Appeal for 
funding every penny of the helipad that would 
not be possible without your kindness, hard 
work and determination”. 

Neil Berry, consultant anaesthetist at the 
hospital and on the East Anglian Air 
Ambulance said: “The minutes the new helipad 
will save could be the difference between life 
and death for many of their patients and they 
are delighted that the HELP Appeal has 
enabled them to further enhance their service 
by making the new helipad possible”. 
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The HELP Appeal has agreed to fund the entire 
cost of the work which is expected to be 
completed in 12 months and the first of two 
£625,000 instalments has been handed over.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wiltshire Air Ambulance 
 
They are planning to build a new airbase and 
operations centre for its helicopter and the 
fundraising team to be together on one site for the 
first time.  
 
The HELP Appeal has given a £250,000 donation 
towards its new airbase at Semington which is 
currently under construction.  
 

 
 
On top of our generous grant we have funded a 
HEMS-Star portable helipad lighting system that 
will assist them whilst taking off and landing safely 
at its airbase in Devizes at night. 
 
The new LED lighting units will aid their pilots and 
paramedics when tasking to an incident in the 
hours of darkness.  Flying up to 19 hours a day, 
until 3 am, this airfield lighting is essential to their 
operation.  
 
Warwickshire and Northamptonshire Air 
Ambulance 
 
The Charity gave a huge boost by donating 
£25,000 towards the campaign to upgrade their 
aircraft. The bespoke aircraft will enable expertly 
equipped crews to fly further, more frequently, 
delivering even faster response times so they can 
continue to save more lives across Warwickshire 
and Northamptonshire. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bury St Edmunds Hospital said when hearing 
that the HELP Appeal had agreed to their request 
to fund a Conveying Buggy: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Andy Williamson, Chief Executive said: “Your 
donation will make a huge impact in reaching 
our total goal and will mean that specialist 
crews can continue to deliver first-class critical 
care to the sickest patients, saving lives across 
the local community.” 

Michelle McKay, Chief Executive said: “We are 

delighted that we‟ve got the go ahead for a 

new helipad and we would like to thank the 

HELP Appeal which is enabling this work to be 

carried out.” 

“Wow, thank you. You certainly do great things 
for our patients!” Pippa 
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Planned locations 
 
Raigmore Hospital, Inverness 
 
This is the largest acute hospital within NHS 
Highland, which serves the Highlands of Scotland 
and they have been experiencing issues with their 
helicopter landing site. A feasibility study has 
confirmed that significant work is required to 
upgrade the landing site to enable the new 
helicopters in use by the Coastguard service to 
land. 
 
The Health Service is under severe financial 
pressures, and it is felt will be unable to fully fund 
these necessary improvements in the immediate 
future.  The hospital contacted us to see if we 
might be in a position to assist them maintain the 
provision of a helipad landing facility at the most 
important hospital in the Highlands.  
 
They expect the cost of the work to be in excess 
of £350,000 but some investigative work is being 
carried out with regards to ground conditions and 
load bearing.  We are awaiting final estimates and 
our Trustees have agreed in principle to fund the 
works up to a value of £400,000. 
 
When advised of our decision the news prompted 
the following response: 
 
Hi Robert – well, that’s the most encouraging 
email that I have received for...? well, forever!  
Many, many thanks for your support and help.  
 
Stoke Mandeville Hospital 
 
This National Spinal Injuries Centre treats major 
spinal injury patients from across the country.  
 
A helipad for air ambulance helicopters to land on 
is planned to open in early 2018.  Its design and 
construction will be funded by a £1 million 
donation from the HELP Appeal. The helipad will 
be elevated over the main car park located beside 
the hospital‟s emergency department.  Lighting 
will illuminate the entire helipad allowing for 
helicopters to land at night. 
 
Air Ambulances currently have no other option but 
to land in a field close to the hospital needing an 
additional transfer in an ambulance, which could 
seriously affect patient‟s chances of recovery. 
 
Getting patients to them faster without another 
ambulance ride will be of great benefit and 
improve the care the hospital can give to their 
most injured patients.   
 

There are over 16 other Helipads that are very 
much needed and in the planning stage including 
Major Trauma Centres at - Sheffield Children‟s 
Hospital, Edinburgh Royal Infirmary, Brighton 
Royal Sussex and all of these hospitals received 
generous instalment payments during the year in 
support of their helipad projects.   
 
The work of the HELP Appeal has never been so 
vital and none of these achievements would be 
possible without our continued success at raising 
the funds needed, something we have always 
been proud of.  
 
We have confidence in our abilities to attract and 
keep the public on side with what we do and with 
what we have and can achieve. 
 
Helipad landings 
 
Bristol Royal Infirmary and Bristol Southmead 
hospitals‟ helipads, which were opened in 2014, 
have seen 718 landings by six air ambulance 
providers in the past three years.  
 
 
The HELP Appeal 
contributed a total of 
£750,000 to the 
building costs.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is great to see how the helipads have made 
such a difference to a significant number of 
critically ill patients who were rescued from across 
the region.      
 
St Mary’s Hospital, Isle of Wight helipad which 
was opened in 2013 by HRH Duke of Kent has 
seen 575 landings by the local air ambulance and 
coastguard services.  
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The HELP Appeal contributed £250,000 towards 
the helipad build which enables patients across 
the Isle of Wight with critical injuries to be flown 
directly to St Mary‟s and if required to the trauma 
centre at University Hospital Southampton or to 
other specialist centres. 
 
Life Stories  
 
We are only able to publish their stories because 
the patients themselves chose to contact the 
Charity following recovery.  In this way we are 
able to provide evidence of the impact that 
helipads can provide. We have provided three 
examples of patient stories on the following 
pages. 
 
Please meet - Jennifer Edlington 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I was having a motorcycle lesson, when I lost 
control of my bike and suffered serious injuries to 
my back, pelvis, collar bone, ribs and lungs. As it 
was suspected that I had a spinal injury I was 
airlifted to the Preston Royal Hospital, which has a 
helipad beside the emergency department.  
 
Time was of the essence in treating me, as I had 
huge difficulty in breathing and with multiple 
fractures, including a broken spine, it was vital for 
me to receive the specialist treatment I urgently 
needed. Having a helipad at the hospital and the 
speed of the air ambulance was essential in 
cutting down the time to get me to the care that I 
needed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thankfully Jennifer made a full recovery. 

and Bill Creamer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
It was just going to be a normal day like any other; 
I never thought it would end up so differently.  
 
I‟d started the day‟s work in my shop at the golf 
club and the last thing I remember is my colleague 
leaving to teach a lesson.  I was told later that he 
had returned and found me on the floor, after 
suffering a heart attack. 
 
Some golf club staff members gave me CPR and 
used the club‟s defibrillator.  They got my heart 
beating but I was still unconscious.  The land 
ambulance crew arrived and my heart stopped 
again when they moved me. They made the 
decision to call an air ambulance and I was flown 
to the Bristol Royal Infirmary.  As there is a 
helipad on the roof of the hospital the staff was 
able to start treating me almost immediately upon 
landing.  
 
I remained in an induced coma in intensive care 
for four days. When they finally brought me round, 
I didn‟t know where I was or what had happened 
to me. I spent a further few days on the high 
dependency ward. 
 
I am sure that the outcome would have been very 
different had I not got the care I needed, as fast 
as I did.  It was the skills of the staff and the 
helipad being so close to the Heart Institute that 
kept me alive. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Since the incident I feel very lucky to have 
been given a second chance after such a life 
changing accident: “to be honest I didn‟t know 
about the HELP Appeal but I find it 
astonishing that such a vital medical resource 
like a hospital helipad requires charitable 
funding. It‟s not well known enough and I think 
it‟s taken for granted that there will be a 
helipad for a helicopter to land on at hospital if 
someone ever becomes seriously ill.  But 
that‟s not always the case and I was one of 
the lucky ones.” 
 

Bill’s Story I tried quite hard to die a couple of 
times that day. It was certainly a great benefit 
and saved precious time to have a hospital 
helipad that close to the emergency 
department. 
 

My stars were definitely aligned that day!  
The golf club staff, the land paramedics, the air 

ambulance crew and the HELP Appeal gave 
me another chance at life. 

 

Jennifer’s Story I find it astonishing that such 
a vital medical resource like a hospital helipad 
requires charitable funding. If there had been 
no helipad or helicopter I wouldn‟t have got the 
specialist care I desperately needed.  It‟s as 
simple as that.  
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and Amelia’s Story 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It‟s only recently that I‟ve been able to talk about 
what happened to Amelia without crying. Even 
now, I still feel cold when I remember her being 
lifted on a stretcher into the air ambulance.  She is 
my only daughter and my world.   
 
Amelia was enjoying herself on holiday 
surrounded by people that loved her. She was a 
typical three year old, always running around and 
full of life.   
 
As Amelia ran towards my husband, she suddenly  
fell with the front of her head hitting the ground.  
She began screaming uncontrollably and as her 
mother, I knew something wasn‟t right, so we took 
her to the nearest A & E hospital.  She then 
became very sleepy and started swaying to one 
side.  
 
She didn‟t know who I was and it soon became 
clear that she needed specialist help, so the 
decision was made to take her to the Bristol 
Children‟s Hospital by air ambulance. At this point 
she was unconscious and needed airway support 
and oxygen.  The crew said they would call me if 
Amelia‟s condition deteriorated.  
 
My husband and I were taken to the hospital in a 
police car and when we arrived Amelia was 
already being treated by the hospital. This is not 
only because of the air ambulance but also 
because it landed on a helipad that was right 
above the emergency department.  
 
Amelia was lucky and allowed home in a few days 
afterwards. 
 
I am so grateful that she has now fully recovered, 
and has no lasting damage from her injuries. 

I am so thankful to the emergency services and to 
the HELP Appeal who helped to build a helipad 
that allowed Amelia to get the treatment she 
urgently needed as quickly as possible. 
 
 
 
 
 
A great place to work 
 
The charitable purpose, and fundraising to 
support that activity, is always at the forefront of 
our minds, and our reputation is dependent upon 
the dedication and enthusiasm of our staff and we 
are very proud of their contribution.   
 
Our fundraising team continued to deliver talks in 
the community, attending fundraising events and 
presentations. Engaging with a wide and varied 
audience, this plays an important role in raising 
the communities‟ awareness of our Charity.  
 
We also strive to ensure that the back office 
support staff in Finance, Administration, 
Governance & Regulation, Human Resources and 
supporter services all continually drives to make 
things better and remain an integral part of our 
charity. 
 
Staff communication meetings are held on a 
quarterly basis for presentations and discussion of 
key areas including Charity progress, business 
updates and projects in maintaining its aims and 
objectives in delivering its public requirement.  
 
We continue to focus on ways to raise increased 
awareness by having a presence on websites and 
through social media. Getting our supporters to 
engage with our social media has become an 
increasingly important part of our organic reach.  
 
We are getting more people engaging with our 
social media platforms and the most popular ones 
are when we have been at events through the 
HELP Appeal engaging with users, celebrities, 
royalty, hospitals and air ambulance operators.    
 
From our administrative endeavours all legal and 
statutory statements during the year were 
submitted on time and in full accordance with their 
regulatory requirements.   
 
Our ethos has been the same since when we 
began to ensure everyone involved with the 
charity feels valued. So, this year, we have 
reviewed and enhanced a number of our policies 
and procedures in relation to personal matters on 

If the helipad had been anywhere other than 
just a short trolley dash to the emergency 
department, Amelia would not be here today.  
Saving time saved her life.  

If the helipad had not been there, the ending to 
my story could have been very different. 
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wellbeing so as to make the Charity as friendly 
and mindful an employer as we can be. 
 
Looking to the future 
 
We have exciting plans for the future as we 
continue the promotion of the campaign to help 
end preventable loss of life caused by secondary 
transfers, as well as leading the improvement in 
the availability of primary helicopter landing sites. 
 
We have a strategic aim to diversify our income 
streams but also greatly appreciate the loyalty and 
generosity of our weekly lottery players. We have 
seen a steady increase in our Lottery income in 
recent years and we expect to see it continue to 
contribute as an important source of revenue.   
 
A significant development in the year was the 
introduction of hand-held tablets for canvassers to 
facilitate sign-up of new supporters and deliver a 
digital marketing campaign. The canvassers are 
engaged with us through a sub-contract            
between Lottery Fundraising Services Ltd (a 
professional lottery organisation that employs 
canvassers to fundraise on behalf of charities) 
and County Air Ambulance Trading limited. 
 
The canvassers work for us under our values and 
guidance to manage the lottery in a professional 
way.  They are provided and briefed on the 
Fundraising Code of Conduct and a guide on 
Social Responsibility in Gambling, both of which 
they are required to agree, comply with and sign.  
 
The lottery is regulated by the Gambling 
Commission and we take great care to comply 
with social responsibility codes of practice in 
communicating with the public.  
 
In recognition of growing concerns, all lottery 
canvassers were given instruction on how to 
recognise and deal sensitively with possible 
dementia sufferers.  They are now all recognised 
as „Dementia Friends‟. 
 
During the year we spent time with our external 
lottery managers exploring future opportunities 
about new fundraising initiatives. Our future aim is 
to make our trading business as efficient and 
profitable as possible by reaching out to potential 
new supporters. 
 
Appreciation  
 
We are a charity which is vital for anyone and 
immensely grateful for the ongoing support from 
our supporters and donors. 
 

We have a strong community fundraising 
programme, raising funds at events, clubs and 
from businesses and I would like to thank 
everybody who has supported us in 2016/17 by: 
 
Taking part in a sponsored event 
Making a donation 
Becoming a lottery player 
Remembering us in their Will 
Signing a Gift Aid declaration 
Putting coins in our collection boxes 
Being a Payroll Giver 
 
We rely totally on your goodwill and generosity 
and our performance and successes throughout 
the year would not have been possible without 
you.  
 
Some of our supporters have built relationships 
with us over many years, and they are a vital part 
of keeping our Charity going.  
This has helped us save lives that otherwise might 
have been lost and improved countless patient 
outcomes.  
 
We very much appreciate this support and feel it 
is incumbent upon us to stretch your contributions 
as far as possible.  
 
The Charity continues to thrive and effectively use 
its resources to further our core objectives and I 
would like to take this opportunity to thank each 
and every one of our dedicated Board of Trustees 
for their constant support and direction during the 
year.  
 
 
 
 
Robert Bertram 
Chief Executive 
 
 
This report was approved by the Board of 
Trustees on 8 February 2018 on signed on their 
behalf by. 
 
 
 
 
Hugh Bernard Meynell, MBE 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
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Strategic Report of the Trustees 
 
Reference and Administrative details for the 
year ended 30 September 2017 
 
The County Air Ambulance Trust Limited is a 
private company, limited by guarantee and is 
registered with the Charity Commission and 
Scottish Charity Regulator.  The Charity was 
incorporated on 10 April 1995 and was registered 
as a charity in England and Wales on 24 July 
1996. 
 
Registered Company Number:  03044061 
 
Registered Charity Number: 
1057063 (England & Wales)  
SC045963 (Scotland) 
 
Registered working names: 
Golden Hour Appeal 
HELP Appeal. 
 
Principal Address and Registered Office: 
PO Box 999, Green Lane, Walsall, WS2 7YX 
 
Chairman of the Trustee Board: 
Hugh Bernard Meynell MBE 
 
Deputy Chairman: 
Michael Henriques 
 
Company Secretary and Director: 
Paul Joseph Harris 
 
Board of Trustees: 
Dr Shaukat Ali 
Mrs Nicholas Bishop 
Mrs Michael Brinton DL 
Richard Everard OBE DL 
Barry Johns (until May 2017) 
John Jones DL 
Andrew Tweedie (until November 2016) 
 
Executive Team: 
Robert W Bertram, Chief Executive 
Arthur H Worthington, Trust Administrator 
Sally M Abbott, Head of Fundraising 
 
Patron: 
Catherine, Lady Forester DL 
 
Honorary President: 
Lisa, Viscountess Cobham 
 
Honorary Chairman: 
Sir Algernon Heber-Percy, KCVO 
Lord Lieutenant of Shropshire 
 

 
 
Our Vice Presidents: 
 
Mrs Jacky Allen 
The Countess of Aylesford 
John Berkley 
Lindsay Bury 
Sir John Cotterell 
The Duke of Beaufort 
The Baroness Rachel Heyhoe Flint OBE DL 
(until February 2017) 

Mrs Vesey Holt 
Mrs Simon Kenyon-Slaney 
John N Kirkland 
Professor Sir Keith Porter 
The Lord Stafford 
Martin Thompson 
The Lord Vestey 
 
The Charity’s Advisors:  
 
Principal Bankers: 
Lloyds Commercial Banking, 
The Bridge, Walsall, WS1 1LU 
 
Barclays Corporate, Barclays House, 
Ocean Way, Southampton, SO14 3TJ 
 
Nat West Bank 
57 High Street, Christchurch 
Dorset, BH23 1BB 
 
Independent Auditors: 
Crombies Accountants Limited 
34 Waterloo Road, 
Wolverhampton, WV1 4DG 
 
Solicitors: 
Anthony Collins LLP 
134 Edmund Street, Birmingham, B3 2ES 
 
Investment Bankers: 
Investec Wealth & Investment Limited 
Festival House, Jessop Avenue. 
Cheltenham, GL50 3SH 
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Structure, Governance and Management 
 
Governing instrument 
The private company is governed by its 
Memorandum and Articles of Association which 
was amended by special written resolution of 
the Board of Trustees dated 6 August 2015 to 
accommodate necessary requirements to register 
with section 7 of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. 
 
The C h a r i t y  does not have a share capital 
and has a wholly owned trading subsidiary, 
County Air Ambulance Trading Limited, which is 
registered and operates within the United 
Kingdom that carries out trading activities. 
 
The main activity is the HELP Appeal weekly 
lottery and the profits arising from the trading 
subsidiary are donated to the Charity. A summary 
of the Trading subsidiary‟s results appear in the 
financial accounts. 
 
This report and the accounts included have been 
prepared in accordance with current statutory 
requirements and the Statement of 
recommended Practice-Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities. 
 
The Charity is based at the offices of South 
Staffordshire Water plc. Green Lane, Walsall, 
WS2 7PD, by kind permission of their Group 
Chief Executive and Board of Directors. 
 
In the event of the Char ity being wound up the 
Company Members will contribute such amount  
as  they  be  required,  not  exceeding £10, 
towards the winding up costs and any liabilities 
of the Company which were contracted whilst 
they were a member. 
 
About the Board of Trustees 
The Trustee Board i s  legally responsible for 
ensuring that the C h a r i t y  works towards its 
Charitable Objectives. The Charity has no 
maximum permitted membership and is open to 
any individual interested in promoting the objects 
of the charity.  It is governed by its Memorandum 
and Articles of Association and currently has a 
principal governing body of eight elected 
members, reduced from ten, whose names are 
listed on page 17.  
 
They are all volunteers with expertise in a range 
of fields ensuring that the board members reflect 
the breadth of the grants we provide. They set the 
overall strategic direction and tone of the Charity 
from the top that is our highest decision making 
body. 

Having well skilled and competent trustees 
providing ideas to keep the board moving forward 
means that we do get more done.  They meet four 
times a year with a well-structured agenda to 
review the work, including finances, consideration 
of grant making, investment, reserves, risk 
management policies and performance to ensure 
that the Charity is on track to meet its objectives.   
 
Board papers are circulated 14 days before each 
meeting to allow Trustees to prepare for 
meetings. Formal minutes are taken and action 
items are identified with responsibilities assigned 
for follow-up. All decisions reached are done so 
by a majority vote.  
 
Trustees are kept informed of developments 
within the C h a r i t y  through regular 
communication by t h e  C h i e f  E x e c u t i v e  
a n d  Senior Management Team. 
 
The Trustees give of their time freely and no 
trustee remuneration was paid in the year. The 
Charity holds trustees and directors Indemnity 
insurance cover of £1,000,000, but the cost is not 
separable from the total cost of insurance.  
 
The Charity reimburses reasonable expenses 
incurred by them in carrying out their duties and 
they are disclosed in note 34 to the accounts.   
 
Recruitment and appointment of Trustees 
The target number of Trustees is not fixed and 
the policy of the Charity has always been to 
ensure that a variety of expertise exists amongst 
the individual Trustee Board. The membership 
of the Board of Trustees is intended to ensure a 
balance of skills and experience relevant to the 
various sectors of the Charity. 
 
There is currently no upper limit to the time 
that an individual can serve as a Trustee. 
 
Recommendations for prospective new Trustees 
are generally made as a result of personal 
contact by the current Trustees or Vice 
Presidents with a view to recruiting from a range 
of business or professional experience that 
will be of benefit to the Charity. 
 
Induction and training of new Trustees 
The Chairman ensures that each new Trustee 
undergoes an orientation briefing on their 
obligations under Charity and Company Law; this 
includes the Charity‟s financial standing and aims 
to ensure that the Charity‟s objectives can be met. 
They are provided with appropriate and timely       
information including the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association, minutes of previous 
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board meetings, Annual Reports and Financial 
Statements, the decision making process of the 
C h a r i t y  and other documents as appropriate to 
begin their Trusteeship effectively. 
 
They are encouraged to develop their knowledge 
and understanding of their role by visiting the 
Charity Commission‟s comprehensive website 
with particular reference to Trustees‟ 
responsibilities. 

 
Organisational structure 
The Ch ar i t y  as constituted does not have a 
complicated organisational structure and the 
Trustees collectively are responsible for directing 
the affairs of the Charity. 
 
There is only a small number of head office 
staff, tha t  manage the day-to-day business and 
running of the Charity including finance, 
employment and administration. Their decisions 
on management issues are made within the 
guidelines established by the Trustees which 
are reviewed and amended if necessary to reflect 
current operational requirements. 
 
Committees are in place to review matters of 
finance, investment, remuneration and 
governance and report back any actions arising 
at subsequent board meetings.  
 
The Chief Executive and Charity Administrator 
both have delegated authority to incur 
expenditure up to £5,000. Expenditure over this 
amount can be authorised by the Chairman of 
Trustees or in his absence the Company 
Secretary.  All issues incurring more major 
expenditure are referred to a full meeting of 
the Trustee Board. 
 
Trustees have full access to the information 
they need to be able to satisfy themselves that 
the funds and assets of the C h a r i t y  have 
been properly administered. Unaudited 
quarterly and cumulative income and 
expenditure accounts are distributed to the 
Trustee Board. 
 
OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES 
 
The Trust‟s governing document states that its 
principal objectives are: 
 
The Trust‟s objects (“the Objects”) are to relieve 
sickness in particular but not exclusively, by 
supporting helicopter emergency medical services 
and funding primary helicopter landing sites at 
major trauma centres and key accident and 

emergency hospitals to help end preventable loss 
of life caused by secondary transfers.  
  
In support of which the principal aim of the 
C h a r i t y  is to generate income from 
fundraising activities to promote, develop and 
enhance support for the provision of HEMS. 
These fundraising activities are planned to 
maximise our income and build the Charity‟s 
brand. 
 
Good governance is recognised as being 
essential to maintain the trust and support of 
the public and their resulting financial generosity. 
 
Within these broad objectives the Charity‟s current 
key objectives are as follows: 
 

 to support and assist in the development of 
helicopter emergency medical services (HEMS) 
throughout the UK 
 

 to encourage and support the implementation 
of the very best clinical practice within HEMS 
which improve outcomes for patients 
 

 promote the HELP Appeal campaign to help 
end preventable loss of life caused by secondary 
transfers 
 

 to lead the improvement of primary helicopter 
landing sites 
 

 to remain completely independent and 
professional in all aspects of its work in order to 
meet its key objectives  
 
TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 
 
The C h a r i t y ‟ s  well established structure 
enjoys the support of patrons and a Trustee 
Board, who are also directors of the County Air 
Ambulance Trust Limited for the purposes of 
company law, and are responsible for preparing 
the Trustees‟ Annual Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the Trustees have elected to prepare 
the financial statements in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice, including FRS 102, the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK. 
 
Under company law the Trustees must not 
approve the financial statements unless they are  
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satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the charitable company and the 
group and of the incoming resources and 

application of resources, including income and 
expenditure, of the charitable group for that 

period. 
 
In preparing these financial statements, the 
Trustees are required to: 
 

 select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently; 

 

 observe the methods and principles in the 
Charities SORP (FRS 102); 

 

 make judgments and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; 

 

 state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; and 

 

 prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable group will continue in 
business. 

 
The Trustees are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the charitable company‟s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the company and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. 
 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charitable company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF 
INFORMATION TO AUDITORS 

 
The Trustees confirm that: 
 

 so far as each trustee is aware, there is 
no relevant audit information (As Defined  
 
By Section 418 of the Companies Act 
2006) of which the charitable company‟s 
auditor is unaware; and 

 
 

 each trustee has taken all the steps 
that they ought to have taken as a trustee 
in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the charitable company‟s 
auditor is aware of that information. 

 
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Charity‟s website.  
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. 
 
No Trustees have any beneficial interest in the 
Charity and guarantee to contribute £10 in the 
event of a winding up.  The Trustees receive no 
remuneration for their services. 
 
Going Concern 
 
The Charity has a broad range of secure income 
streams that provide a reliable source of income 
to fund the Charity‟s charitable objectives. 
 
Having reviewed the operational financial 
projections, and associated cash flow forecasts, 
the Trustee Board have concluded that the 
Charity has sufficient resources to continue 
funding the charitable activities at the current level 
of operation for the foreseeable future. 
 
Auditors   
 
A resolution to appoint Crombies Accountants 
Limited as auditors for the ensuring year will be 
considered at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting in accordance with Section 489 of the 
Companies Act 2006. 
 
This report was approved by the Board of 
Trustees on 8 February 2018 and signed on their 
behalf by:   
 
 
 
Hugh Bernard Meynell, MBE 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
 
8 February 2018 
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Finance Review 
 
An overview of our 2016/17 performance 
 
Each annual report is an opportunity to take stock 
of how far we have progressed and acts as a 
snapshot celebrating the journey and occasionally 
a final outcome rather than a full synopsis of 
achievement.  
 
The Board of Trustees has ultimate legal 
responsibility for our organisation and works to 
ensure good governance, with the help of its sub-
committees.   Our key performance indicators are 
summarised below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Total income increased sufficiently to cover all 
grant payments to our beneficiaries as well as 
contributing to the Charity reserves: 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
The majority of our financial support is from the  
 
 
This summarised financial information may not 
contain sufficient information to allow for a full 
understanding of all of the affairs of the Charity. 
For further information, please see the full 
financial statements and the auditor‟s report 
below.  
 
We conclude another year in a strong financial 
position. Although it is becoming harder to raise 
money we succeeded in achieving the highest 
level of financial support in our history, building on 
the £7.867 million we generated in 2015/16.  The 
increase in net income has enabled the Charity to 
increase spend on charitable activities, growing by 
2.3%.  Much of the increase this year relates to 
the non-refundable grants given to NHS hospital 
partners.  
 
The majority of our financial support is from the  

HELP Appeal weekly lottery, which is a 
sustainable fundraising income stream to the 
Charity and we are incredibly grateful to the 
members and to Lottery Fundraising Services who 
have helped us throughout the year. 
 
The Charity has access to the funds held for the 
HELP Appeal lottery. These funds are held in a 
separate bank account from the funds of the 
charity by the subsidiary trading company. The 
total monies transferred from the subsidiary 
Trading Company to the C h a r i t y  of £3.8 
million was greater than in the previous year.  
 
These gifted donations are passed to the 
C h a r i t y  from time to time during the year, 
leaving sufficient margin for the Trading 
Company to operate efficiently in terms of 
payments to lottery winners and the external 
lottery managers. Generating those profits incurs 
costs; principally in canvassing and management 
in running the lottery operation.  
 
With year-on-year improvement across the 
trading business and careful planning for the 
future we expect it to continue to contribute a 
profit again next year in what is expected to be a 
highly challenging year in which to fundraise.  
 
Growth in new members for the lottery has 
increased over the year and we now have over  
118,000 active members in the weekly HELP 
Appeal weekly draw, which is up by 8 % on 
the same point in the previous year. 
 
The Charity is registered with the Gambling 
Commission to run this lottery with day to day 
operations being under the control of a third party 
external lottery manager. 
 
Regulatory bodies 
 
We are subject to regulation by the Charity 
Commission, Fundraising Regulator, Gambling 
Commission and the Information Commissioner‟s 
Office.  
 
We are members of the Institute of Fundraising 
and have signed up and paid our subscription to 
the Fundraising Regulator.  We actively follow the 
Fundraising Regulator‟s Code of Fundraising 
Practice, going above and beyond these 
principles where possible. We are also fully paid 
members of the Lotteries Council 
 
Resources expended on charitable activities  
Whilst the Charity‟s group balance sheet position 
is very strong, the majority of the net assets are 
held in unrestricted designated funds. They 

Total incoming resources increased by 2.3% 
to £8.049 million (2015/16 - £7.867m) 
 
Total resources expended increased by 6.1% 
to £8.025 million (2015/16 - £7.563m) 
 
Total funds increased by 3.9% to £6.596 
million (2015/16 - £6.351m) 

Resources expended on charitable objectives: 
 
Air Ambulance operational grants increased by 
14% to £0.821 million (2015/16 - £0.720m) 
 
Helipad construction grants increased by 
11.5% to £3.989 million (2015/16 - £3.587m) 
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represent funds that have been accumulated from 
surpluses of net income resources that are held 
specifically for the charitable purposes of the 
Charity and its statutory obligations. 
 
We hold financial reserves to be applied to future 
activities in two categories: 
 
- Unrestricted funds – available to be applied, 

at the discretion of the Trustees, to any of 
the Charity‟s charitable purposes. 

 
- Restricted funds - to be applied to grant 

making applications in support of local air 
ambulance helicopter operating costs. 
retained specifically for the benefit of local  
air ambulance operators.  

 
One item discussed by the Board was the level of 
cash allocation in the investment portfolio that 
should apply to restricted funds. The Trustees 
agreed that a figure of 10% of the total investment 
fund should be allocated for this purpose.  This 
figure will be reviewed annually or when 
appropriate.  
 
The financial strategy of the Charity is to generate 
an increasing flow of income to fund helicopter 
emergency medical services (HEMS). The net 
incoming resources are then applied to the 
charitable purposes after providing for the costs of 
administering and managing the Charity‟s income 
generating activities.  
 
Spend on charitable activities continues to grow, 
as it has done in recent years.  Much of this 
increase relates to the non-returnable grants 
provided to NHS Hospitals towards the 
development of new or the upgrading of existing 
helicopter landing facilities at Major Trauma 
Centre and key A & E Hospitals in England, 
Scotland and other parts of the UK.  
 
The full list of the grants applied during the year in 
support of our charitable objectives is set out in 
the tables below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These grants continue to add to our excellent 
reputation at the forefront of the UK HEMS 
network.   In approving making these grant 
payments the Trustees have given consideration 
to the Charity Commission‟s general guidance on 
public benefit 
 
Fundraising 
 
We continue to enjoy well diversified sources of 
funding as the regulatory landscape for 
fundraising is evolving.  The Charity welcomes the 
introduction of the Fundraising Preference Service 
and changes to the Fundraising Regulator Code 
of Practice.  
 
Having carried out an internal review of our 
fundraising programme, we will continue to 
monitor and adapt with these changes over the 
coming year to ensure we stay ahead.  This 
includes preparation for the introduction of 
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in 
May 2018. 
 
When we work with third party agencies we 
ensure that they are fully registered with all the 
appropriate regulatory bodies, reviewing all their 
policies as part of our robust due-diligence 
processes. During the past year we have been 
actively involved with the training that agency 
fundraisers undertake.   
 

In support of Air Ambulance charities 
 

Midlands Air Ambulance                            £381,737  
Great Western Air Ambulance                   £384,250 
The Air Ambulance Service                         £25,000 
Total                                                          £790,987 

                                    
           (Total in 2016 - £645,004) 

In support of Helipad construction 
 

Worcester Royal Hospital                          £625,000 
Kings College Hospital, London                £500,000  
Luton & Dunstable Hospital                       £500,000 
Royal Sussex Hospital Brighton                £500,000 
Aintree Liverpool Hospital                         £450,000 
Northern General Sheffield Hospital         £350,000 
Manchester Central Hospital                    £250,000 
Hull & East Yorkshire Hospital                  £250,000 
Wiltshire Air Ambulance                            £131,950 
Ipswich Hospital                                        £125,000 
Midlands Air Ambulance Charity                £84,529 
St James Hospital, Leeds                           £79,915 
Royal Bournemouth Hospital                      £53,866 
Scottish Ambulance Service                       £50,000 
Sheffield Children‟s Hospital                       £16,399 
Portree Isle of Skye                                       £9,407 
East Prawle, Devon                                       £5,695 
Feasibility studies                                          £3,119 
Oswestry Hospital                                            £620 
Total                                                      £3,985,800 
 
                                   (Total in 2016 - £3,587,012) 

Grant total £4,776,787 (£4,232,016 in 2016) 
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If a complaint or feedback is received, it is raised 
immediately with the agency for a thorough 
investigation and the required action is 
implemented.  We continually monitor our 
agencies to ensure that fundraisers adhere to the 
strict guidelines that we set and have established 
a programme to test our systems through user 
and customer feedback. 
 
We monitor and record any complaints resulting 
from our fundraising practices, and we submit 
these complaints to the new Fundraising 
Regulator.  In the past year, we have had 18 
complaints, primarily related to dislike of the 
fundraising methods being used.  
 
Investment Committee 
 
The investment committee provides oversight and 
assurance for the Board of Trustees in respect of 
the investment activities of the Charity. The 
committee also oversee the execution of the 
agreed investment strategy and monitors the 
performance of the external fund managers.  
 
The investment strategy is designed to enable us 
to do more than meet our obligations in managing 
the funds of our Charity.  We hope that the 
knowledge and insights shared with us in a 
practical and accessible way help to make the 
best use of our investments. Two fund managers 
are in place to manage our funds at Investec 
Wealth and Investment and the investment 
committee consults with these professionals to 
help maximise the overall return within acceptable 
parameters while ensuring that the strategy 
remains fit for purpose.  
 
Fund performance achieved a return of 6.7% in 
the twelve months to 30 September 2017 as 
compared to the benchmark return of 5.2%.  
 
The Charity‟s grants policy anticipates making 
large but infrequent payments, the exact timing of 
which is not always known. This has historically 
resulted in a need to maintain a high degree of 
liquidity, in addition to stability, security and 
achieving a reasonable return.   Accordingly, our 
investment policy necessitated that a sizeable 
proportion of the funds were kept in low/medium 
term deposits.   
 
We discussed at some length with our investment 
managers the rationale for a change in the risk 
profile from low/medium to medium.  This was 
primarily due to market movements and in part 
moving away from fixed interest into other assets 
which resulted in the portfolio having a higher  

weighting in Equities than the original investment 
strategy.  The decision to amend the risk profile 
does not mean that “riskier” assets will be held in 
the portfolio, just that the asset allocation has 
organically moved towards a “medium” profile.  
 
The Committee shall normally consist of two 
trustees and they can co-opt others in an advisory 
capacity by agreement of the Trustee Board. The 
following served on the Investment Committee 
during the year: 
 
Charity Trustees: 
Michael Henriques, Chairman 
John Jones DL 
 
Chief Executive: 
Robert Bertram 
 
Advisory members: 
Charlotte Selby-Rickards 
Charles Purves 
Peter Horton  
 
The Committee‟s brief is to make decisions that 
are in our best interests and seek to avoid 
unnecessary risks that could leave our investment 
portfolio vulnerable to changes in market 
conditions. 
 
We recognise the wealth of knowledge and 
experience of the investment advisors and we are 
able to access our account and monitor 
performance online at any time. 
 
No withdrawals were made from the investment 
portfolio during the year and its value has 
increased to £6.4 million  
 
Reserves policy 
 
The financial strategy of the Charity is to provide a 
secure and increasing flow of income to fund its 
charitable objectives. Our reserves policy is set 
out to ensure our work is protected from the risk of 
disruption at short notice due to lack of funds, 
whilst at the same time ensuring we do not retain 
income for longer than required. 
 
Reserve levels available at the year-end represent 
around 12 months worth of charitable expenditure 
out of general funds.     
 
The level of reserves must be sufficient to address 
the risks that we run and we need a continuing 
strong financial performance to maintain this. The 
aspiration of the Board is to achieve a level of 
general reserve that will allow sufficient resilience 
to provide short term protection against downward 
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fluctuations in revenue and receipts. Here are 
some of the needs that we base this on: 
 

 Ensure that we can maintain the desired 
level of investment in our charitable 
activities. 
 

 Provide ongoing support to our local air 
ambulance charities. 

 

 Provide funding towards life-saving 
helipads at hospitals to ensure maximum 
benefit in treatment for patients. 

 

 Finance unplanned expenditure where the 
need arises and provide a financial cushion 
in the event of extreme circumstances 
affecting the Charity. 

 
Reserves are held in order that we can deliver on 
our promises to beneficiaries. The Charity has 
committed to what is often long-term support and 
this demands a degree of reassurance that we 
can honour that commitment.  Another reason that 
funds are held as designated reserves is where 
projects have been identified that are being 
progressed or not yet ready to start. 
 
The Trustees have reviewed the reserves held at 
the year end and have concluded that the funds 
brought forward remain an appropriate basis for 
considering future demands on grant funding. 
 
Remuneration Committee  
 
The aim of our remuneration policy, which applies 
to all employees, is to offer remuneration that is 
fair and appropriate for the roles they perform and 
the responsibilities they undertake to deliver our 
charitable aims.  In setting remuneration levels we 
have regard to pay in other organisations which 
employ individuals with similar skills and generally 
expert to pay at a level comparable to that in the 
charity sector.   
 
We operate a defined contribution pension 
scheme to which all eligible employees are auto-
enrolled. The levels of salary available, together 
with other benefits such as annual leave and 
pensions, are generally reviewed annually. Inputs 
to the review include the financial performance of 
the Charity. 
 
A pay review exercise was undertaken in August 
2017 when the Committee take independent 
advice as necessary and also of affordability for 
the Charity. The committee were satisfied that the 
levels of pay are appropriate to the responsibilities  

of the posts concerned and recommended an 
overall increase of 3% of payroll and salaries.  
This was approved by the Board from 1 October 
2017. 
 
During the financial year, membership of the 
remuneration committee was: 
 
Hugh Meynell MBE 
John Jones DL 
Richard Everard OBE DL 
 
Risk Management 
 
Good governance is vital and is a continued focus 
for the Trustees. Risk Management at the Charity 
is directed and overseen by the Board whose role 
is to define the level of risk taking for the Charity 
in normal and stressed conditions and to oversee 
that activities are undertaken to be consistent with 
these levels. 
 
The Trustees have considered the major risks to 
which the Charity is exposed and have reviewed 
those risks and established systems and 
procedures to manage them.  
 
The Risk Register is maintained by the Charity 
Administrator and this is prioritised and presented 
half-yearly to the Board for further review 
including an assessment of any controls in place 
to address risks. The risks are prioritised 
according to their probability and potential impact, 
and then adjusted for the effect of mitigating 
controls.  
 
The Trustees help to identify, evaluate and 
manage risks relating to governance, regulation, 
income generation, investments, organisational 
change, employees, projects and operational 
needs.   It is recognised that systems provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance that major 
risks have been adequately managed. 
 
Classifying risk isn‟t a static process; both trustees 
and   the senior management team are always on 
the lookout for new and future risks.  This is 
primarily managed by continually checking to 
ensure that everything that we do is in accordance 
with our charitable objects.  
 
During the year we have refocused our 
management of risk, particularly in respect of new 
and developing areas, and all major risks were 
managed with no significant adverse impact. The 
system of risk management and internal control is 
designed to minimise rather than eliminate the risk  
of failure to achieve the Charity‟s objectives, and  
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can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.  
 
The principal risks and uncertainties to which the 
Charity is exposed include: 
 

 The new fundraising regulatory system will 
impact on some fundraising channels, and 
we continue to diversify and innovate 
across our fundraising streams to mitigate 
against future uncertainty. 
 

 The Charity is modernising its business 
processes to improve our supporter 
management and data compliance. This is 
being developed in conjunction with 
professional advice. 

 

 The financial sustainability of the Charity is 
a risk which is managed by operating 
diverse income sources and by careful 
fundraising methods particularly with 
changes in the law.  

 

Alongside a tightening of data protection 
law next year it's looking to be a much more 
difficult fundraising environment. 

   

 Changes to the organisation or to personnel 
in the Charity can create risks arising from 
loss of knowledge, consistency or failure to 
maximise the many and varied skills of our 
staff.  The Charity manages these risks by 
having a clear process for staff 
development and appraisal. 
 

 Like other organisations the Charity is at 
risk of cyber attack, and ongoing 
preventative controls include regular 
penetration testing and IT security 
assessments of all current systems.   
 
Enhanced preventative controls have been 
established to mitigate such risks. They 
include firewalls and Antivirus software 
which are up to date and have been 
configured to catch a Cyber attack. 
 
We will also be looking at cloud based 
protection solutions which comply with the 
new GDPR regulations.  

 
We are both grateful and fortunate that our office 
provider have the right people in place that follow 
protection advice issued by the National Cyber 
Security Centre to manage the cyber challenge.    
 
In summary, the scale, complexity and 
requirements of Risk Management have been 

steadily increasing and will continue to do so.  The 
combination of these factors will likely pose 
important challenges for us in 2018. 
 
Plans for the future 
 
Each year we set out our strategy for the next five 
years with demanding financial targets to support 
us in achieving our aims and objectives. We know 
the targets will challenge us and our plans for the 
year ahead are focussed on four key areas: 
 

 Financial targets to ensure we secure the 
resources we need and live within our 
means to generate a surplus. 
 

 Key performance measures and targets to 
measure our day-to-day performance and 
ensure we deliver our core objectives.  

 

 Ensuring the integrity and legality of data 
collection within the Charity and keeping 
abreast of developments and regulations. 

 

Training staff about the GDPR and to use the data 
we are collecting to fundraise effectively after its 
implementation and the possible ramifications of 
not doing so.   
 
We recognise the wealth of knowledge and 
experience of our staff and from their endeavours 
the Charity has remained legally compliant in all 
aspects of the business.  Their performance this 
year was significantly better than the targets set.  

 
Going concern 
 
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the Charity‟s 
financial position and consequently believes there 
are sufficient resources to manage any 
operational risks.  The Board therefore considers 
there is reasonable expectation that the Charity 
has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason the Board continues to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
financial accounts.  
 
Appreciation 
 
None of our work is possible without the support 
of so many individuals and organisations that 
make donations and raise money on our behalf 
who like us want to change things for the better.  
 
On behalf of the Board we would sincerely like to 
thank all our supporters who are a vital part of the 
Charity.   
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By order of the Board of Trustees this report was 
approved by them on 8 February 2018 and signed 
on their behalf by:   
 
 
 
Paul Joseph Harris, 
Company Secretary and Director 
 
 
 
 
Hugh Bernard Meynell, MBE 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
 
8 February 2018 
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Our Thanks 
 
We would like to express our special thanks to 
the Chief Executive of South Staffordshire 
Group plc for providing accommodation and 
facilities at their Walsall Headquarters for 
nearly 25 years.  
 
In addition we are grateful for the support and 
advice sourced from: 
 
Anthony Collins LLP Solicitors 
The Wilkes Partnership LLP Solicitors  
Crombies Accounting Limited 
The Charity Commission 
Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator 
The Gambling Commission 
The Fundraising Regulator 
The Lotteries Council 
The Civil Society 
Information Commissioner‟s Office 
The Institute of Fundraising 
Civil Aviation Authority international 
Investec Wealth & Investment 
Westminster Briefing 
PGMS Limited 
Smee & Ford Ltd 
Verbatim Call Services 
Kablooie Creative 
Managers and staff at – 
Lloyds Commercial Banking 
Barclays Corporate 
Nat West Bank 
 
Their overall support and advice is greatly 
appreciated and ensues the Charity is well 
governed so maintaining the high standards and 
legislative issues. 
 
We are particularly grateful to the long-term 
support that we continue to receive from: 
 
Catherine, The Lady Forester 
Maisie Newman 
Leek United Building Society 
The Jordan Foundation 
Angela and Cath Arnold 
Steve Benton Transport 
Sports Argus Darts Team 
Tamworth Anker Inner Wheel 
The Aylesford Family Charitable Trust 
Green Turtles Swimming Club 
Screwfix (Wincanton) 
Investec Wealth & Investment 
C C Giro 
G4S Care & Justice Service 
Everards Brewery 
UK Parking Control 
 

 
 
Steppes Travel 
Hartshorne Group 
 
We are fortunate to have received 21 generous 
donations this year from the following people 
who have remembered the Charity in their Will.   
 
These legacy gifts play a vital role in our work: 
 
Mr Geoffrey Marshall Austin 
Mrs Ivy Bache 
Mrs Brenda Bate-Jones 
Mrs Irene Broadhead 
Mr Roger Anthony Beech 
Mr William Eric Cooper 
Mrs Florence Irene Crotch-Harvey 
Mrs Joyce Crompton 
Mrs Isobel Duff 
Mr Leonard Albert Harding 
Mr Clifford John Hammond 
Mr Albert Holt 
Mrs Mary Elizabeth Hulse 
Mr Austin Jenkins 
Mrs Elizabeth Ann Kirby 
Mrs Doreen Gwendoline Neather 
Mrs Bessie Maria Oldfield 
Mrs Vera May Pegler 
Mrs Dorothy Margaret Palmer 
Mr Paul David Quinn 
Mr Geoffrey Williams 
 
The tireless work of our staff continues as they 
regularly rise to and exceed the expectations of 
the Charity.  It‟s thanks to their dedication that we 
are able to report on many achievements over the 
past years. 
 
To know more about our Charity please visit our 
websites at: 
 
www.countyairambulancetrust.co.uk 
 
www.helpappeal.org.uk 
 
 

http://www.countyairambulancetrust.co.uk/
http://www.helpappeal.org.uk/


REGISTERED COMPANY NUMBER: 03044061  (England and Wales) 

REGISTERED CHARITY NUMBER: 1057063 (England and Wales) 

REGISTERED CHARITY NUMBER: SC045963 (Scotland) 
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  REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF 

                                                    COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of County Air Ambulance Trust Group (the 'charitable company') for the year ended 

30 September 2017 on pages thirty to forty six. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).  

 

This report is made solely to the charitable company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 

Companies Act 2006, and to the charitable company’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with Regulation 10 of the Charities 

Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company's 

members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable 

company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

-  

  

 give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company's affairs as at 30 September 2017 and of its incoming 

resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then ended; 

 

             - have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

                          - have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustees                        

Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

 

 Basis for opinion 

   We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our      

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent of the charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements 

that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you 

where: 

        - the trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not       

appropriate; or 

       - the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast      

significant doubt about the charitable company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 

period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 

report, other than the financial statements and our Report of the Independent Auditors thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

           -the information given in the Report of the Trustees for the financial year for which the financial statements are      

prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

            -the Report of the Trustees has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

      

  Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in the course of 

the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Report of the Trustees. 



 

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements 
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 REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

  

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts 

(Scotland) Regulations 2006  requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

  -adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 

branches not visited by us; or 

  -the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

  -certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

  -we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

Responsibilities of trustees 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees Responsibilities set out on page four, the trustees (who are also the directors 

of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 

being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable company's ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a Report of the Independent Auditors that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these financial statements.  

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's 

website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our Report of the Independent Auditors.   

 

 

 

Ian James Cattell (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of Crombies Accountants Limited 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 

34 Waterloo Road 

Wolverhampton 

West Midlands 

WV1 4DG 

 

Date:08 February 2018 



 

The notes form part of these financial statements 
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                                                                 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

2017  2016  

 

 

 

Unrestricted 

fund 

  

Restricted fund 

 Total  funds  Total  funds  

 Notes £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM  

Donations and legacies 2 6,618 559 7,177 6,787 

 

Other trading activities 3 323 349 672 891 

Investment income 4 186 - 186 179 

Other income - 14 14 10 

          

Total 7,127 922 8,049 7,867 

 

 

EXPENDITURE ON  

Raising funds 5 2,918 170 3,088 3,163 

Charitable activities 6  

Air Ambulance 12 809 821 720 

Administrative Costs 38 - 38 - 

Helipad construction 4,010 68 4,078 3,680 

          

Total 6,978 1,047 8,025 7,563 

 

Net gains/(losses) on investments 221 - 221 541

          

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 370 (125) 245 845

 

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS  

 

Total funds brought forward 5,241 1,110 6,351 5,506 

 

          

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD 5,611 985 6,596 6,351 

          

 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

All income and expenditure has arisen from continuing activities. 

 

 

 



 

The notes form part of these financial statements 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST 

 CHARITY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

Charity  Charity  

Charity  Charity  2017  2016  

Unrestricted  Restricted  Total  Total  

funds  funds  funds  funds  

 Notes £  £  £  £  

INCOMING RESOURCES     000’s    000’s    000’s 000’s

  

Activities for Generating Funds  

Donations, legacies & Similar income 2 553 559 1,112 1,034 

Donation from Trading company  3,506  3,506 3,194 

Fund-raising appeals 3 323 349 672 891 

Investment income 4 186 - 186 179 

Other incoming resources - 14 14 10 

          

Total incoming resources 4,568 922 5,490 5,308 

 

 

RESOURCES EXPENDED  

Costs of generating funds 5 

Costs of generating voluntary income  362 170 532 602 

Charitable activities 6  

Air Ambulance 3 809 812 672 

Helipad construction 4,054 68 4,122 3729 

      

          

Total resources expended 4,419 1,047 5,466 5,003 

 

 

Other recognised gains/losses  

Gains/losses on Fixed asset investments 221 - 221 556 

          

Net movement in funds 370 (125) 245 861 

 

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS  

 

Total funds brought forward 5,241 1,110 6,351 5,490 

 

          

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD 5,611 985 6,596 6,351 

          

 

 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

         All income and expenditure has arisen from continuing activities. 

 



 

The notes form part of these financial statements 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

 AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

2017  2016  

 

 

Unrestricted 

fund 

  

Restricted fund 

 Total  funds  Total  funds  

                                                                                           Notes £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

FIXED ASSETS  

Investments 13 5,382 598 5,980 5,572 

 

CURRENT ASSETS  

Debtors 14 18 - 18 22 

Cash at bank and in hand  219 387 606 895 

          

    237 387 624 917 

 

 

CREDITORS  

Amounts falling due within one year 15 (8) - (8) (138) 

 

          

NET CURRENT ASSETS 229 387 616 779 

          

 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 

LIABILITIES 

5,611 985 6,596 6,351 

 

          

NET ASSETS 5,611 985 6,596 6,351 

          

 

FUNDS 16  

Unrestricted funds 5,611 5,241 

Restricted funds 985 1,110 

    

TOTAL FUNDS 6,596 6,351 

    

 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees on 08 February 2018 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

HUGH MEYNELL ,MBE 

CHAIRMAN OF THE TRUSTEES 



 

The notes form part of these financial statements 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST 

 CHARITY BALANCE SHEET 

 AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016 

  

Charity  Charity  

Charity  Charity  2017  2016  

Unrestricted  Restricted  Total  Total  

funds  funds  funds  funds  

 Notes £  £  £  £  

FIXED ASSETS      000’s     000’s    000’s    000’s 

Investments 12 5,382 598 5,980 5,572 

 

CURRENT ASSETS  

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 13 736 - 736 102 

Cash at bank  (503) 387 (116) 691 

          

233 387 620 793 

 

 

CREDITORS  

Amounts falling due within one year 14 (4) - (4) (14) 

 

          

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 229 387 616 779 

          

 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 

LIABILITIES 

 

 

 

5,611 

 

985 

 

6,596 

 

6,351 

 

          

NET ASSETS 5,611 985 6,596 6,351 

          

 

FUNDS 15  

Unrestricted funds 5,611 5,241 

Restricted funds 985 1,110 

         

TOTAL FUNDS 6,596 6,351 

         

 

 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees on 08 February 2018 and were signed on its behalf 

by: 

 

 

 

 

HUGH MEYNELL, MBE, 

CHAIRMAN OF THE TRUSTEES  

 



 

The notes form part of these financial statements 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

 

         Group  Charity    Group                  Charity 

                                                                                                2017                      2017     2016                                       2016  

        £'000                    £’000    £’000                               £’000  

  

       Cash flows from operating activities     

       Cash generated from operations (283) (801) 253 349 

       Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (283) (801) 253 349 

     

       Cash flows from investing activities     

       Purchase of fixed asset investments (1,279) (1,279) (1317) (1,317) 

       Sale of fixed asset investments 1,077 1,077 735 735 

       Interest received  - 1 1 

       Dividends received 186 186 178 178 

       Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (16) (16) (403) (403) 

     

       Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting         

       period 

 

(289) 

 

(817) 

 

 

(150) 

 

(54) 

      Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the    

      period 

 

 

 

 

895 

 

 

 

 

691 

 

1045 

 

745 

       Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 606 (116) 895 

 

691 
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     COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

1.  RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 

  Group Charity Group Charity 

    2017    2017   2016    2016 

  £ ‘000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

          

         Net income for the period (as per the statement of financial activities) 

  

245 

 

245 

 

845 

 

857 

         Adjustments for:      

         Interest received  -  (1) (1) 

         Dividends received  (186) (186) (179) (179) 

        (Decrease) Increase in creditors  (130) (10) 117 (4) 

         Decrease (Increase) in debtors 4 (634) (25) 180 

         Revaluation of investments (216) (216) (504) (504) 

          

         Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 

 

(283) 

 

(801) 

 

253 

 

349 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Basis of preparing the financial statements 

The financial statements of the charitable company, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared in 

accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102) 'Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 

Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 

the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015)', Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland', the Companies Act 2006, the Charities qnd Trustees 

Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention with the exception of investments which 

are included at market value, as modified by the revaluation of certain assets. 

 

Adoption of FRS 102 

In preparing the accounts, the trustees have considered whether in applying the accounting policies required by FRS 102 

and the Charities SORP FRS 102 the restatement of comparative items was required. At the date of the transition the only 

restatement required was the reanalysis of governance costs as shown in the reconciliation on page 

 

Group financial statements 

The financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned subsidiary County Air Ambulance 

Trading Limited on a line by line basis. 

 

Income 

All income is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities once the charity has entitlement to the funds, it is 

probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably.  

 

Expenditure 

Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the charity to that 

expenditure, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the 

obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under 

headings that aggregate all cost related to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings 

they have been allocated to activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources.  

 

Grants offered subject to conditions which have not been met at the year end date are noted as a commitment but not 

accrued as expenditure.  

 

Allocation and apportionment of costs 

The Trust initially identifies the costs of its support functions and then identifies those costs which relate to the governance 

function. Having identified its governance costs the remaining support costs are apportioned between the charitable 

activities undertaken on an invoiced or time apportioned basis as appropriate. 

 

Taxation 

The charity is exempt from corporation tax on its charitable activities.  

 

Fund accounting 

Unrestricted funds can be used in accordance with the charitable objectives at the discretion of the trustees. 

 

Restricted funds can only be used for particular restricted purposes within the objects of the charity.  Restrictions arise 

when specified by the donor or when funds are raised for particular restricted purposes. 

 

Further explanation of the nature and purpose of each fund is included in the notes to the financial statements.  

 

 

 



 

37 

 

                                                                  

 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

 

 

2. DONATIONS, LEGACIESAND SIMILAR INCOME 

 

    

 Group  Charity  Group  Charity 

 2017  2017  2016  2016 

       £ 000’s        £ 000’s        £ 000’s        £ 000’s 

 

Donations 

 

611 

 

  

611 

  

  

545 

  

  

545 

Legacies 501  501  487  487 

Lottery income 6,065  -  5,755  - 

        

 7,177           1,112  6,787  1,032 

    

Of the lottery income received by the Group £300,496 (2016 £190,500) was 

generated in Scotland as were donations of £983 (2016 £1,550) 

   

    

    

 

3. OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES 

 

    

    

    

 

4. INVESTMENT INCOME 

 

    

 Group  Charity  Group  Charity 

 2017  2017  2016  2016 

       £ 000’s        £ 000’s        £ 000’s        £ 000’s 

Bank interest                 -  -  1  1 

Investment income 186  186  178  178 

        

 186  186  179              179 

    

 

 Group  Charity  Group  Charity 

 2017  2017  2016  2016 

       £ 000’s        £ 000’s        £ 000’s        £ 000’s 

Telephone appeals 143  143  227  227 

        

Payroll giving 422  422  415  415 

Events 107  107  249  249 

        

 672  672  891  891 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

 

5. RAISING FUNDS 
 

Raising donations and legacies 
 

 Group  Charity        Group  Charity 

 2017  2017  2016  2016 

            £ 000’s         £ 000’s       £ 000’s        £ 000’s 

Staff costs 454  257  443  252 

Telephone appeals 90  90  105  105 

Printing and stationary 3  2  4  1 

Office sundries 6  5  6                 6 

Motor expenses -  -  -  - 

Collections, events, mailshots etc 91  91  118  118 

Lottery operating expenses 2,245  -  2,287  - 

Merchandising                                                                 

Payroll giving 

Bank charges 

                     4 

                   45 

                   68         

 

 

 

  45 

                 7                       

 18 

                 82 

                 67               

 - 

             82 

               7 

Legal fees                   47  -  2                 - 

        

        

 3,053  497  3,132  571 

    

    

 Investment management costs 
 

    

                                                                                        £'000’s                      £000’s                      £000’s  £'000  

Support costs                                                                           35                             35  31 31 

 

  

 

Aggregate amounts                                                          3,088                              532  3,163 602 

    

 

6. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES COSTS 

 

 

 

 

Direct costs 

 Grant funding 

of activities 

  

Support costs 

  

Totals 

 

(See note 7)  (See note 8)   

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Air Ambulance  27 791 3 821 

Administrative Costs  38 - - 38 

Helipad construction  48 3,989 41 4,078 

          

113 4,780 44 4,937 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

 

7. GRANTS PAYABLE  

Group and Charity 

             

2017  2016  

£'000  £'000  

 

Air Ambulance 

  

791 

 

645 

Helipad construction  3,989 3,587 

    

4,780 4,232 

    

 

 

Recipients of Institutional Grants:           

 

Great Western Air Ambulance  384 300 

Midlands Air Ambulance  300 345 

Stoke Mandeville  -     30 

Kings College - London  500    750 

Luton and Dunstable  500 500      

Aintree, Liverpool  450        450 

Royal Infirmary, Edinburgh  - 350       

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals  625     - 

Hull & East Yorkshire Hospital  250 - 

Air Ambulance Service  25 - 

Portree & Braes Community Trust  11 - 

Sheffield Hospital Trust  350 350      

Ipswich Hospital  125  - 

Wiltshire Hospital                      132 - 

Queen Elizabeth, Glasgow  -  350 

Central Hospital, Manchester  - 250      

QMC, Nottingham  250 250 

Brighton & Sussex University Hospital Trust        500      

Midlands Air Ambulance Charity    166  93      

Sheffield Children’s Hospital  17     

Royal Hospital, Bournemouth  54 65    

Leeds General Hospital  81 52 

Scottish Ambulance Service  50 50   

Stornaway Hospital  - 39   

Robert Jones & Agnes Hunt Hospital, Oswestry  1 5 

Feasibilty Studies  - 3  

Chilvestone Parish council 

CAA International 

 6 

3 

- 

- 

 

     

 4,780 4,232 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

 

 

8. SUPPORT COSTS 

 

 

 

Governance 

costs 

 

 £'000 

Investment management costs  35 

Air Ambulance  3 

Helipad construction  41 

 

 79 

 

 

Support costs, included in the above, are as follows: 

 

8. SUPPORT COSTS - continued 

 

Governance costs 

2017  2016  

 

 

 

Investment 

management 

costs 

  

 

Air Ambulance 

  

Helipad 

construction 

  

 

Total activities 

  

 

Total activities 

 

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Investment advice fees  35 - - 35 31 

Trustees' expenses  - - 2 2 2 

Wages  - - 9 9 10 

Auditors' remuneration  - - 5 5 5 

Insurance  - - 3 3 3 

Postage and stationery  - - 14 14 15 

Sundries  - - 6 6 7 

Accountancy and legal fees  - 3 2 5 5 

             

35 3 41 79 78 

             

 

 

9. NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 
 

Net income/(expenditure) is stated after charging/(crediting): 

 

2017  2016  

£'000  £'000  

Auditors' remuneration  5 5 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

10. TRUSTEES' REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS 

 

There were no trustees' remuneration or other benefits for the year ended 30 September 2017 nor for the year ended 

30 September 2016. 

 

Trustees' expenses 

 

In the year ended 30 September 2017 three trustees were paid travel and accommodation expenses and one trustee was 

paid for printing, postage and stationery. Four trustees were paid mileage expenses and one trustee was paid for printing, 

postage and stationery in 2016.  

 

11. STAFF COSTS 

 

2017  2016  

£'000  £'000  

Wages and salaries  481 474 

    

 

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows: 

 

2017  2016  

Administration  4 3 

Fund-raising  7 8 

    

11 11 

    

 

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded £60,000 was: 

 

2017  2016  

£60,001 - £70,000  1 1 

£90,001 - £100,000  1 1 

    

2 2 

    

 

      2017       2016  

 

£'000  £'000 

Wages and salaries comprise:                                                          

                

Gross wages and salaries  399 420 

Employer's National Insurance  41 39 

Pension costs 

Ex Gratia payment 

 11 

                       30 

15 

                   - 

        

481 

       

474 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

 

 

 

12. COMPARATIVES FOR THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 

 

 

 

Unrestricted 

fund 

  

Restricted fund 

 Total  funds  

£'000  £'000  £'000  

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM  

Donations and legacies 6,235 552 6,787 

 

Other trading activities 471 420 891 

Investment income 179 - 179 

Other income - 10 10 

       

Total 6,885 982 7,867 

 

       

 

EXPENDITURE ON  

Raising funds 3,001 162 3,163 

Charitable activities 

Air Ambulance - 720 720

Helipad construction 3,680  3,680

       

Total 6,681 882 7,563

 

Net gains/(losses) on investments                     541 - 541 

       

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE)                  746 100 846 

 

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS  

  

 

Total funds brought forward 4,495 1,010 5,505 

 

       

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD 5,241 1,110 6,351 

       

 

 



 

43 

 

  

 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

 

13. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS 

 

THE GROUP - INCLUDING SUBSIDIARIES 

 

Listed 

investments 

 

 £'000 

MARKET VALUE 
At 1 October 2016  5,572 

Additions  1,279 

Disposals  (1,077) 

Revaluations  206 

 

At 30 September 2017  5,980 

 

 

 

NET BOOK VALUE 

At 30 September 2017  5,980 

 

At 30 September 2016  5,572 

 

 

 

THE CHARITY – AS A SEPARATE ENTITY 
 

 

 

Shares in 

group 

undertaking 

  

Listed 

investments 

  

Totals 

 

£       £ 000’s  £ 000’s  

MARKET VALUE     

At 1 October 2016  1 5,572 5,572 

Additions  - 1,279 1,279 

Disposals  - (1,077) (1,077) 

Revaluations  - 206 206 

       

At 30 September 2017  1 5,980 5,980 

       

NET BOOK VALUE     

At 30 September 2017  1 5,980 5,980 

       

At 30 September 2016  1 5,572 5,572 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

 

 

FIXED ASSET INVESTMANTS-continued 

 

 

 

The listed investments held as at 30 September 2017 were as follows: 

 

 

Also as part of the investment portfolio £366,966 (2016 £404,075) is held and classified as cash held. 

 

 

 

 

 

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS-continued 

 

 

The company's investments at the balance sheet date in the share capital of companies include the following: 

 

  

 

County Air Ambulance Trading Limited 

Nature of business: Fund raising through charity lotteries 

 

 %    

Class of share:  holding  

Ordinary  100 

2017  2016  

£  £  

            Aggregate capital and reserves    1 1 

            (Loss)/profit for the period/year  - - 

    

 

 

 

 

 2017  2016 

         Cost      Market        

Value 

      Cost     Market   

Value 

       £ 000’s        £ 000’s      £ 000’s       £ 000’s 

UK Fixed Interest 1,467  1,521  1,518  1,597 

Overseas Fixed Interest 498              507  602  606 

UK Equities 1,194  1,316  1,250  1,290 

Overseas Equities 1,236  1,549  894  1,098 

Property Equities 317  365  332  347 

Alternative Assets (Property)             663  722  577  634 

        

 5,375  5,980  5,173  5,572 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

 
13. DEBTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 

 

 

Group 

  

Group 

  

Charity 

  

Charity 

 

2017  2016  2017  2016  

     £ 000’s  £ 000’s  £ 000’s  £ 000’s  

            

 Amounts owed by group undertaking 

 - -  

718 

 

82 

            Prepayments  18 22 18 20 

          

18 22 736 102 

          

 

 
14. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 

 

Group  Group  Charity  Charity  

2017  2016  2017  2016  

    £ 000’s       £ 000’s  £ 000’s  £ 000’s  

             

Trade creditors 

  

- 

 

133 

 

- 

 

11 

            Taxation and social security  (2) (2) (2) (2) 

            Other creditors  10 7 6 5 

          

8 138 4 14 

          

 

 
16. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 

 

 

 

 

At 1.10.16 

 Net movement 

in funds 

  

At 30.9.17 

 

£'000  £'000  £'000  

Unrestricted funds 
General fund 5,241 370 5,611 

 

Restricted funds 

Air Ambulance Support 1,110 (125) 985 

 

       

TOTAL FUNDS 6,351 245 6,596 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

  

16. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - continued 

 

Net movement in funds, included in the above are as follows: 

 

 Incoming 

resources 

 Resources 

expended 

 Gains and 

losses 

 Movement in 

funds 

 

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Unrestricted funds 

General fund 7,127 (6,978) 221 370 

 

Restricted funds 

Air Ambulance Support 922 (1,047) - (125) 

 

          

TOTAL FUNDS 8,050 (8,025) 221 245 

          

 

17. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

 

There were no related party transactions for the year ended 30 September 2017. 

 

18. PURPOSE OF FUNDS 

 

Unrestricted Funds 

Unrestricted funds can be used in accordance with the charitable objectives of the Trust. Income received in respect of 

helicopter emergency landing pads and air ambulance support is generally treated as unrestricted funds. 

 

Restricted Funds 

Restricted funds represent income received in respect of specific air ambulance services which must therefore be applied to 

that specific service.  

 

 

 
        19.        DONATED FACILITIES 
  

             The charity receives free use of office space from South Staffordshire Water Plc on an informal lease. It is not considered       

                     possible to arrive at an accurate value for the donated use of these facilities for inclusion in the Statement of Financial         

                    Activities however the monetary value of the donation is not considered to be material in the context of the financial statements       

       as a whole. 
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     COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 RECONCILIATION OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2016 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Group 

 

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM 
Donations and legacies                                                                                                 

Other trading activities 

Investment income 

Other income 

 

Total                                                                                                                       

 

EXPENDITURE ON 

Raising Funds                                                                                                                

Charitable activities                                                                                                    

OBSOLETE Governance costs                                                                                           

 

Total 

 

Net gains/(losses) on investments 

 

NET INCOME (EXPENDITURE)  

 

 

 

Charity 

 

 

 

UK GAAP 

 

£’000 

 

 

 

 

6,787 

891 

179 

10 

 

7,867 

 

 

3,131 

4,353 

79 

 

7,563 

 

541 

 

845 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Effect of 

transition to 

FRS 102 

 

£’000 

 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

31 

48 

(79) 

 

-  

 

- 

  

 

FRS 102 

 

£’000 

 

 

 

 

6,787 

891 

179 

10 

 

7,867 

 

 

3,162 

4,401 

- 

 

7,563 

 

541 

 

845 

 

  £'000  £'000  £'000  

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM  

Donations and legacies 4,228 - 4,228 

Other trading activities 891 - 891 

Investment income 179 - 179 

Other income 10 - 10 

       

Total 5,308 - 5,308 

 

EXPENDITURE ON  

Raising funds 571 31 602 

Charitable activities 4,353 48 4,401 

OBSOLETE Governance costs 79 (79) - 

       

Total 5,003 - 5,003 

 

Net gains/(losses) on investments 556 - 556 

       

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 861 - 861 

       



 

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements 
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COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES  

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

2017  2016  

£'000  £'000  

 

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS 
 

Donations and legacies 

Gifts  - 2 

Donations  611 544 

Legacies  501 487 

Lottery income  6,065 5,754 

    

7,177 6,787 

 

Other trading activities 

Telephone appeals  143 227 

Payroll giving  422 415 

Events  107 249 

    

672 891 

 

Investment income 

Investment income  186 178 

Bank interest receivable  - 1 

    

186 179 

 

Other income 

Other income  14 10 

    

Total incoming resources 8,049 7,867 

 

 

EXPENDITURE 

 

Raising donations and legacies 

Wages  257 252 

Telephone appeals  90 105 

Printing and stationery  2 1 

Office sundries  5 5 

Collections, events, mailshots etc  91 118 

Payroll giving  45 82 

Legal fees  44 - 

Bank charges  7 8 

    

541 571 

 

Other trading activities 

Wages and subcontract  197 191 

Lottery expenses  2,245 2,287 

Printing and stationery  1 3 

Carried forward  2,443 2,481 



 

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements 
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 COUNTY AIR AMBULANCE TRUST GROUP 

 DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES  

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 

2017  2016  

£'000  £'000  

Other trading activities 

Brought forward  2,443 2,481 

Office sundries  1 1 

Accountancy  3 2 

Bank charges  61 59 

Merchandising  4 18 

    

2,512 2,561 

 

Charitable activities 

Wages  18 21 

Advertising  47 54 

Consultancy  21 16 

Collections, events, mailshots etc  27 30 

Grants to institutions  4,780 4,232 

    

4,893 4,353 

 

Support costs 

Governance costs 

Trustees' expenses  2 2 

Wages  9 10 

Auditors' remuneration  5 5 

Insurance  3 3 

Postage and stationery  14 15 

Sundries  6 7 

Accountancy and legal fees  5 5 

Investment advice fees  35 31 

    

79 78 

    

Total resources expended 8,025 7,563 

 

 

    

Net income 24 304 

    

 

 




